

INDEPENDENT TASK FORCE REPORT

The Untapped Potential of the US-Colombia Partnership

Creating a Modernized Plan for the Bilateral Relationship



CO-CHAIRS

Senator Roy Blunt

(R-MO)

Senator Ben Cardin (D-MD)

The Adrienne Arsht Latin America Center broadens understanding of regional transformations through high-impact work that shapes the conversation among policymakers, the business community, and civil society. The Center focuses on Latin America's strategic role in a global context with a priority on pressing political, economic, and social issues that will define the trajectory of the region now and in the years ahead. Select lines of programming include: Venezuela's crisis; Mexico-US and global ties; China in Latin America; Colombia's future; a changing Brazil; Central America's trajectory; combatting disinformation; shifting trade patterns; and leveraging energy resources.

For more information, please visit www.AtlanticCouncil.org.

This report is written and published in accordance with the Atlantic Council Policy on Intellectual independence. The authors are solely responsible for its analysis and recommendations. The Atlantic Council and its donors do not determine, nor do they necessarily endorse or advocate for, any of this report's conclusions.

© 2019 The Atlantic Council of the United States. All rights reserved. No part of this publication may be reproduced or transmitted in any form or by any means without permission in writing from the Atlantic Council, except in the case of brief quotations in news articles, critical articles, or reviews. Please direct inquiries to:

Atlantic Council 1030 15th Street NW, 12th Floor Washington, DC 20005

ISBN: 978-1-61977-601-2

September 2019

The Untapped Potential of the US-Colombia Partnership:

Creating a Modernized Plan for the Bilateral Relationship

CO-CHAIRS

Senator Roy Blunt

(R-MO)

Senator Ben Cardin

(D-MD)

DIRECTOR:

Jason Marczak

Director, Adrienne Arsht Latin America Center Atlantic Council

WITH:

Ana Arjona

Camila Hernández

Andrea Trujillo

Table of Contents

FOREWORD 01
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 02
OVERVIEW OF RECOMMENDATIONS 05
THE NEED FOR A NEW PLAN FOR COLOMBIA 10
THE ATLANTIC COUNCIL'S US-COLOMBIA TASK FORCE 13
HISTORICALLY SUCCESSFUL PARTNERSHIP 14
A BLUEPRINT FOR A MODERNIZED US-COLOMBIA PARTNERSHIP 18
1. BUILDING SUSTAINABLE ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT AND PROMOTING INNOVATION 18 Trade and investment 19 Formalization and taxation 23 Innovation, science, technology, and education 25
2. STRENGTHENING INSTITUTIONS AND RULE OF LAW WHILE COMBATING ILLICIT DRUGS 28 Territorial control and rural development 29 Infrastructure connectivity 38 Steps to address the world drug problem 40 Social leaders and human rights defenders 44
3. RECOGNIZING COLOMBIA'S LEADERSHIP IN THE CONTEXT OF THE VENEZUELAN REGIONAL CRISIS 45
THE TAKEAWAYS 51
TASK FORCE CO-CHAIRS AND MEMBERS 52
ACKNOWLEDGMENTS 55
ENDNOTES 56

Foreword

Senator Roy Blunt Task Force Co-Chair (R-MO) Senator Ben Cardin Task Force Co-Chair (D-MD)

he United States and Latin America are at a historic moment. As members of the United States Senate, we believe in working closely with our partners to overcome the most difficult political and economic hurdles of our time. In Latin America, the United States has many such strong allies, with Colombia top among them.

For decades, the United States and Colombia have built a solid partnership based on mutual respect, cooperation, and common goals. This alliance has safeguarded the economic, security, and geopolitical interests of our nation, while also advancing Colombia's path to increased stability, prosperity, and regional leadership. With Colombia's transformations, the United States stands to reap the benefits of this vital relationship and further work with Colombia to help solve hemispheric challenges.

We must build upon our bilateral successes to ensure sustainable prosperity in the years to come. Colombia faces strong headwinds that require renewed US attention: ensuring the effective implementation of the Colombian peace accords, securing resources to continue providing assistance for Venezuelan migrants and refugees, and mitigating ongoing security threats. By further investing in the US-Colombia relationship, the United States and the US Congress can provide new momentum for the hemisphere.

This report lays out a modernized plan for the bilateral relationship. It builds on the successes of Plan Colombia and provides a roadmap for continued, strengthened, and transformative US-

Colombia engagement. The report follows the work of the Atlantic Council's US-Colombia Task Force, a group of current and former policymakers, including colleagues in the House of Representatives, business executives, and civil society leaders from both Colombia and the United States. As co-chairs of the Task Force, we are confident the recommendations outlined in the following pages will help advance US interests, contribute to peace and prosperity in Colombia, and promote regional stability.

The multisectoral, bipartisan, bicameral, and bilateral nature of the task force allowed us to develop concrete, fresh, and actionable proposals that will help guide US and Colombian policymakers going forward. We identified three major areas of engagement: economic development and innovation; rule of law, institutional control, counternarcotics; and joint regional leadership. A strengthened US-Colombia partnership along these pillars will pay dividends on US investments far beyond our national borders.

This is a moment of great promise for the US-Colombia relationship. A more peaceful and prosperous Colombia not only translates to a more secure United States, but also to a more stable Western Hemisphere. We hope the work of this Task Force will help underscore the importance of a deepened and modernized US-Colombia alliance and set the stage for a new era of successful bilateral collaboration.

Executive Summary

olombia is one of the United States's closest allies in the Western Hemisphere. For decades, both nations consolidated a mutually beneficial partnership that successfully safeguarded US and Colombian national security interests. Today, with increased interconnectedness, both nations' security, economic, and geopolitical interests are more intertwined than ever before.

Colombia's transition into a more peaceful and prosperous democracy makes it imperative that the United States and Colombia seize this moment to expand and deepen the partnership. The findings presented in the following pages require urgent attention. Although Colombia is a different country than it was two decades ago, new challenges with peace accord implementation and Colombia's role as the top receiving country of Venezuelan migrants and refugees make finding new ways to work together crucial — Colombia's success is the United States' success.

This report provides a blueprint for a modernized US-Colombia strategic partnership. It is the product of a nonpartisan, bicameral, multisector, and bicountry task force launched in March 2019 by the Atlantic Council's Adrienne Arsht Latin America Center. Composed of high-level business executives, current and former policymakers, and civil society leaders from Colombia and the United States, the task force offers concrete, actionable, and fresh proposals on how to strengthen the bilateral relationship. The ideas are intended to provide guidance to both the Colombian and US

administrations, the US Congress, and the respective business communities on opportunities to maximize the full potential of the US-Colombia relationship. Task force recommendations are divided into three categories: sustainable economic development; rule of law, rural development, and counternarcotics efforts; and joint leadership around the Venezuela regional crisis.

Tapping the full potential of the US-Colombia partnership must include the promotion of economic development. A healthy Colombian economy directly serves US national security interests as it contributes to rural development, which is critical to undermine the drug trade and other illicit economic activities as well as illegal armed actors. Fully implementing all aspects of the US-Colombia Trade Promotion Agreement (TPA) and endorsing the double taxation agreement will lead to deepened bilateral trade and investment.

The task force identified Colombia's taxation system and high levels of informality as two major barriers to economic development. The partnership can include collaboration to modernize Colombia's taxation agency and reduce informality. Further digitalizing Colombia's economy, simplifying processes for firm creation and closure, improving access to credit and other business services, setting corporate taxes at levels similar to those of other Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development (OECD) countries, and making labor regulations more flexible, will all help to incentivize the formal (or licit) economy and undermine informality. Advances in innovation,



US President Donald Trump meets with Colombian President Iván Duque in the Oval Office at the White House in Washington, DC in 2019. The United States and Colombia are longstanding allies and strategic partners.

science, technology, and education are also crucial to achieve the economic development needed to combat illegal armed groups and reduce coca production and cocaine trafficking.

Advancing shared US and Colombian security interests requires the stabilization of territories where coca crops are cultivated, illicit armed actors operate, and local populations face high levels of violence and poverty. Critical to regaining control of rural areas is implementation of the Peace Agreement with the FARC. The task force recognizes the need for a long-term, adequately resourced intervention strategy that includes security, justice, formalization of land property rights, education, public goods provision, and economic opportunities in priority areas to dismantle organized armed groups, eradicate rising coca crops, and fight drug trafficking. If a successful, multidimensional intervention plan is implemented in ten municipalities, the US-Colombia partnership will disrupt the conditions that favor illegality in territories responsible for almost half the entire national coca production. Colombia and the United States should promote partnerships between both countries' private sector and civil society to develop market-driven, large-scale and holistic rural development projects in coordination with the Colombian government.

Safeguarding US and Colombian security interests

also requires enhancing rural connectivity in Colombia, addressing the world drug problem, and protecting Colombian social leaders and human rights defenders. Rural infrastructure stands as a prerequisite to rural economic growth and the success of crop substitution programs. Unless farmers can get their legal products to market, no eradication effort will prove sustainable in the long run. Colombia and the United States can work together to replicate successful projects involving local populations in the building and maintenance of secondary and tertiary roads, with the long-term goal of creating capacity for future infrastructure projects in the locality. To address the world drug problem in an integral way, the US-Colombia partnership should not only aim to reduce coca crops in the short run but also continue to target other

stages of the drug market, including cocaine production, trafficking, and consumption.

The United States and Colombia share a firm commitment to human rights and should therefore continue to collaborate to end the rising levels of violence against social leaders and human rights defenders in Colombia. The United States can support Colombia's current efforts by providing financial assistance for President Duque's Timely Action Plan on Prevention and Protection for Human Rights Defenders, Social

Leaders, and Journalists (PAO). Colombia, in turn, should develop a progress report for the PAO with clear follow-up mechanisms that involves civil society organizations in the process.

The political, economic, and humanitarian crisis in Venezuela is a threat to regional stability. Colombia has demonstrated commendable solidarity in receiving over 1.4 million Venezuelan migrants and refugees - a number that will continue to grow in the coming months and years. The United States should increase its financial, diplomatic, and technical support to Colombia as it plays a leadership role in addressing the crisis. If current international support does not increase, Colombia runs the risk of spiraling into economic stagnation, violence, criminality, illicit economies, and decayed governance. This will not only harm US national security and geopolitical interests but will lead to major economic losses to previous and current US investment in Colombia. The United States can further support its ally by enhancing the Colombian government's capacity to gather and process data on Venezuelan migrants and refugees entering the country and by contributing to border control through monitoring technologies. The US-Colombia partnership can also create a task force to calculate the fiscal impact of the crisis to Colombia to understand the exact level of funding that will be required to absorb the growing number of Venezuelans. In addition, the partnership can support the efforts of the Venezuelan interim government

> by convening a group of experts on stabilization of territories and transitions to democracy that can provide it with intelligence cooperation and guidance on the promotion of rule of law and strengthening of national institutions.

> The US-Colombia partnership is one of the greatest US foreign policy successes over the last two decades. Dedicated, sustained. bipartisan commitment to achieving common goals, once

thought to be out of reach, was possible due to US congressional leadership and a commitment to work across US administrations. At the same time, successive Colombian governments showed themselves to be critical partners for the United States—both in-country and beyond its borders. But we cannot rest on our laurels. New domestic and regional paradigms make this moment imperative to define how our relationship can and should be taken to the next level.

This report serves as a blueprint for addressing the challenges and responses that would strengthen **US national** security and regional stability.

Overview of Recommendations

Sustainable Economic **Development and Innovation**

TRADE AND INVESTMENT

Colombia

Implement pending aspects of the Trade Promotion Agreement (TPA) to increase trade, jobs, and economic growth, but also improve protections for intellectual property rights, labor rights, and the environment.

Launch structured promotional campaigns for Colombian products entering the US market.

United States

Implement pending aspects of the TPA, including the regional cumulation provision for textiles and increased access to biodiesel products

Grant Colombia's steel and aluminum products entering the US market an exemption from tariffs of 25 percent and 10 percent, respectively.

US-Colombia Partnership

Harmonize and speed up sanitary and phytosanitary requirements to accelerate the entry of preapproved Colombian products into the US market. Top market access priorities include: fresh peppers, mangoes, and passifloras.

Promote the double taxation agreement between the two countries to increase legal security and incentives for bilateral investment.

FORMALIZATION AND TAXATION

Colombia

Reform the current tax structure to increase tax revenues while also encouraging formalization and entrepreneurship. An eventual tax reform should maintain corporate taxes at levels comparable to those of other OECD countries.

Incentivize formalization by educating workers about the benefits of participating in the formal economy, while also offering improved access to credit and other business services.

US-Colombia Partnership

Cooperate to reduce informality and protect formal firms doing business in Colombia. The partnership should work to devise best practices for simplifying the process of firm creation and closure: reduce unnecessary norms and barriers for firms: make labor regulations more flexible to increase formalization, productivity, and competitiveness; and improve the modernization process of Colombia's tax agency, DIAN.

Accelerate the process to conduct US immigration customs and inspections at El Dorado airport in Bogotá, Colombia, A close working relationship on the ground will allow authorities from both nations to share real-time information on immigration, customs, and agriculture.

Collaborate to increasingly digitalize Colombia's economy, as well as its customs, tax, ports and airport systems, to enhance the traceability of goods, improve tax collection, and undermine illicit economies.

SCIENCE, TECHNOLOGY, INNOVATION, AND EDUCATION

Colombia

Designate one agency responsible for coordinating alliances between universities in Colombia and the United States. Both large and small universities should benefit from this program to ensure that students form all ethnic and socioeconomic backgrounds have access to new opportunities. Specifically, the agency should:

- a) Promote collaborative research and education between Colombian and US universities.
- b) Broaden and increase awareness about opportunities for educational exchanges via scholarships, grants, and study abroad programs, especially for ethnic minorities. Promote Colombia as a prime education destination for US students in areas such as Spanish and biodiversity.

United States

The United States can offer trainings to Colombian English teachers and provide additional scholarships to US English teachers seeking to teach in Latin America. While in Colombia, US English teachers will have access to additional education opportunities, especially Spanish language programs.

US-Colombia Partnership

Collaborate to strengthen industryuniversity collaboration in Colombia to foster innovation. The United States can also help Colombian research institutions replicate the funding models and development strategies of US research centers. By promoting innovation, science, and technology in Colombia, the partnership will help transform the conditions that incentivize illegality, safeguarding both countries' national security interests.

Institutions, Rule of Law, and **Illicit Drugs**

TERRITORIAL CONTROL AND RURAL DEVELOPMENT

Colombia

Adjust the National Integral Program for the Substitution of Illicit Crops (PNIS) to viably support all families that have signed and complied with the cropsubstitution agreement. Adjustments include the delivery of subsidies in the initial phases of the program to ensure that farmers can consolidate their licit productive project. In the initital years of production, the government should help peasants sell their licit products by connecting them with sellers or buying some of the production. Provision of technical assistance is also necessary.

Create a database or program that connects farmers interested in substituting coca crops with potential buyers. The current disconnect between potential suppliers of licit products with markets represents a major challenge to the crop-substitution program.

United States

Support the commercialization and facilitate market access to legal products that have substituted coca crops. They can be promoted and marketed as a special type of fair trade good.

US-Colombia Partnership

Invest in a long-term, multidimensional plan that includes security, justice. formalization of land property rights, education, public goods provision, and economic opportunities in ten priority areas to dismantle organized armed groups, eradicate rising coca crops, and fight drug trafficking. The ten priority municipalities identified by the Colombian government are included in the PDETs and are responsible for one-half of the entire national coca production.

Promote programs to train local and nonlocal public officials to serve in rural areas, offering support while in office to guarantee that characteristics of each locality are taken into account. These public servants could in turn train others and provide support in their first years serving in vulnerable localities.

Work to establish technology transfer and training programs, especially in the agricultural sector. For example, creating a "fellows" program to train Colombians on agricultural techniques for between six and twelve months in the United States under the condition that they return to Colombia to advise regional and local governments as well as farmers' organizations.

Foster partnerships between the Colombian and US private sectors and nongovernmental organizations to implement market-driven rural development projects, in coordination with the Colombian government.

Identify viable projects to combat illicit drug production in natural parks and lands owned by indigenous and Afro-Colombian communities. Projects in collectively owned lands must take into account the needs, preferences, and strengths of the communities that own them.

Channel additional resources to funds created by multilateral agencies and Colombia to transform vulnerable territories, help them transition to licit economies, and consolidate peace.

Conduct a rigorous assessment of all previous interventions in rural areas to determine how to best allocate development resources in the future.

	INFRASTRUCTURE CONNECTIVITY
US-Colombia Partnership	Replicate successful projects involving local populations in the building and maintenance of secondary and tertiary roads, with the long-term goal of creating capacity for future infrastructure projects in the locality. The partnership should further facilitate the involvement of DFC and USAID as a potential source of financing for these projects.
	Support public-private partnerships to increase connectivity in rural areas and create incentives for youth to remain in the countryside.
	STEPS TO ADDRESS THE WORLD DRUG PROBLEM
Colombia	Cut coca cultivation and production in half by 2023 using a combination of the most cost-effective tools at its disposal.
	The Colombian government, with the support of ONDCP, should also create an agency that coordinates all efforts to fight drug trafficking in the country.
United States	Increase financial and technical support, military cooperation, and intelligence assistance to combat the world drug problem. For example, the United States can increase the presence of its vessels and patrol in the Pacific Ocean and the Caribbean.
US-Colombia Partnership	Create an innovation lab or host a formal call for proposals on innovative ways to reduce coca crops and cocaine trafficking.
	Strengthen regional coordination mechanisms for interdiction such as the Joint Interagency Task Force (JIATF) South and the Colombia International Maritime Center Against Narcotrafficking (CIMCON) to double down on the fight against drugs.
	Collaborate to strengthen Colombia's riverine and radar capabilities, surveillance, mobility, and interdiction assets such as helicopters and fast boats.
	Countries involved in the production, trafficking, and consumption of illicit drugs in the region should come together to look at the available evidence and apply lessons learned about counternarcotics policy design and implementation, and devise stronger and more holistic measures of success.
	Work to modernize Colombia's ports and customs agencies to boost the country's capacity to fight drug trafficking and money laundering.
	Implement programs to prevent and reduce consumption among youth in Colombia and the United States and encourage other consuming countries to devise national plans for this same purpose.
	SOCIAL LEADERS AND HUMAN RIGHTS DEFENDERS
Colombia	Implement fully the Timely Action Plan on Prevention and Protection for Human Rights Defenders, Social Leaders, and Journalists.
United States	Continue supporting the Attorney General's Office in cases of human rights abuses and provide intelligence assistance to help prevent crimes against social leaders and human rights defenders. The United States can also provide financial support to President Duque's Timely Action Plan on Prevention and Protection

Prevention and Protection.

Colombia's Leadership In the **Context of the Venezuela Crisis**

Colombia

Continue to play a leadership role in the international arena to achieve a peaceful democratic transition in Venezuela. Do so specifically through continued engagement with the Lima Group regional bloc.

Continue working to assist and integrate Venezuelan migrants and refugees crossing the border by regularizing their legal status and granting work permits.

Conduct campaigns to inform the population about the Venezuela regional crisis, combat xenophobic narratives and discrimination, and explain the positive economic impacts of integrating Venezuelan migrants into the Colombian economy and society.

United States

Increase its financial, diplomatic, and technical support to Colombia as it plays a leadership role in responding to the Venezuela situation. Examples of technology assistance include:

- a) Enhancing Colombia's existing capacity to gather and process data on Venezuelan migrants crossing the border. This will not only help manage security threats but also facilitate the social and economic integration of Venezuelan migrants.
- b) Contribute to border control by working with Colombia to deploy sensors, drones, and other monitoring technologies in the Colombia-Venezuela border area.

US-Colombia Partnership

Ask the international donor community to fully fund the \$738 million requested by the UN to help Colombia respond to the Venezuelan migration crisis.

Create a Task Force on stabilization of territories and transitions to democracy and include international experts who can provide intelligence cooperation to the Venezuelan interim government and advice on how to promote rule of law and strengthen national institutions.

Create a Task Force of experts to calculate the exact fiscal impact on and funding needed by Colombia to absorb the growing number of Venezuelan migrants and refugees.

The Need for a New **Plan for Colombia**

olombia is one of the United States' strongest, most reliable allies in the Western Hemisphere. It collaborates with the United States in fighting international drug trafficking and transnational organized crime, as well as in promoting democracy, rule of law, and economic prosperity in the region. At the United Nations (UN), among other things, Colombia supports US diplomatic efforts on priorities such as North Korea, Syria, Iran, and Ukraine. It also contributes security expertise in Central America, Afghanistan, and a number of countries in Africa. Colombia is NATO's only global partner in Latin America, one of the two Organi-

sation for Economic Co-operation and Development (OECD) member countries in South America, and a regional leader in facing the crisis in Venezuela. Here, its generous response to the massive influx of Venezuelan migrants and refugees should be viewed as a model for countries around the world.

With the US-Colombia Trade Promotion Agreement (TPA), the opportunities for mutually bene-

ficial trade are enormous. The United States is Colombia's largest trading partner and Colombia is the United States' third-largest export market in Latin America behind Mexico and Brazil. Today, with increasing hemispheric challenges, the US-Colombia strategic partnership is more important than ever. By continuing to invest in the already strong bilateral relationship, both countries stand to benefit in the short, medium, and long term.

Colombia is pivotal in addressing Venezuela's unprecedented political and economic crisis, which has led to the largest mass migration in Latin American history. With 1.4 million Venezuelan migrants in its territory as of June 2019, Colombia is the primary destination for Venezuelans.² President Iván Duque has adopted a policy of complete solidarity toward Venezuelan migrants,3 providing medical care, housing and public education, among other services. According to the World Bank, the estimated economic cost for Colombia in 2018, not including infrastructure and facilities, reached 0.4 percent of gross domestic product (GDP), or the equivalent of \$1.5 billion.4

Colombia has also sought to confront increased illegal activity in Venezuela, including illegal mining,

> the arms and drug trade, and human trafficking, as well as the smuggling of goods and money laundering. Here, a contradiction exists around the role of China. At the same time that China is increasing its economic ties with Latin America—and while Colombia's exports to China increased 83 percent in 2018 compared with 2017—it continues to support the Maduro regime, helping to maintain a criminal enterprise in Vene-

zuela that directly threatens Colombia's interests. As the presence of guerrilla groups, drug cartels, and other transnational criminal organizations in Venezuela⁵ creates new security challenges for the region, Colombia's role in maintaining regional stability becomes more vital than ever. Eventual reconstruction efforts in Venezuela will also require enormous Colombian support.

In addition to its partnership with the United States in the region, Colombia plays a unique role in tackling the world drug problem, as also stated

Today, with increasing hemispheric challenges, the US-Colombia strategic partnership is more important than ever. .



US Secretary of State Mike Pompeo (right) and Colombian Foreign Minister Carlos Holmes Trujillo speak with reporters before their meeting at the US State Department in Washington in 2019. Deepened US-Colombia collaboration in areas of economic development, security, and regional stability will further advance mutual interests.

in the Global Call to Action by President Donald Trump at the 2018 United Nations General Assembly. Colombia has the most to lose if the fight against drugs is unsuccessful, and it has thus advanced a full-on strategy to disrupt the cocaine trade. The United States has been a crucial ally in this quest. Since Plan Colombia was announced in 1999, the United States has provided more than \$11 billion⁶ to aid the Colombian government in strengthening state capacity and institutions, decreasing coca crops, and fighting the Revolutionary Armed Forces of Colombia (FARC) and other illegal groups that profited from drug trafficking. Colombia has contributed more than 95 percent of the total investment in Plan Colombia.7

Between 2001 and 2016, the country destroyed 37,504 illegal laboratories, seized an average of 181,201 kilograms of cocaine each year, and reduced the area containing coca crops by half in the first six years.8 Colombia has also made enormous sacrifices in terms of lives lost: between 2009 and 2018, 126 members of the state security forces as well as civilians died in eradication missions and 664 were wounded.9 Overall, during the first fifteen years of Plan Colombia, about six million people—including members of the state forces, combatants of illegal groups, and, mostly, civilians—were victims of a violent event such as forced displacement, homicide, or kidnapping.¹⁰ By 2017, and after decades of enormous efforts, successive governments in Colombia had advanced in dismantling the most significant drug cartels, reached agreements to demobilize several paramilitary forces, and started the implementation of the Peace Accords with the FARC. In 2017, the country achieved the lowest homicide rate in its past forty-two years.11

In 2019, the UN Security Council, following its mission visit to Colombia in July, called Colombia's ability to negotiate a peace agreement in 2016 "an example for others around the world."12 The Council also "welcomed Government efforts to advance the reintegration of former FARC-EP members and

strengthen rural development" and stressed the importance of "implementing the peace agreement as an interlocking set of commitments."13

However, several challenges to Colombia's national security and democracy as well as the rights of its citizens still remain. These challenges are partially explained by the capacity of existing illegal armed groups and criminal organizations to adapt and take advantage of conditions that favor their growth—i.e., insufficient institutional presence, limited economic opportunities, and the availability of illegal funding sources. After the demobilization of the FARC, several armed groups competed for territorial control in areas where the guerrilla group used to operate. A vacuum had been left for them to exploit and profit from illicit economies such as drug trafficking, illegal mining, and extortion.¹⁴

The rights of vulnerable populations in areas where the state is fragile therefore remain unprotected. According to Colombia's Victims Unit, more than 360,000 people were internally displaced between January 2016 and July 2019.15 The situation of social leaders is particularly critical—more than 300 have been killed since 2016.16 Corruption, which President Duque has identified as a top priority (and recently submitted legislation to counter it), has facilitated criminal activities and undermines the legitimacy of the Colombian state. At the same time, while there has been progress in the implementation of the Peace Accords, there is still a long way to go to achieve the accords' stated goals and commitments. Additionally, instability in Venezuela and the meddling of Russia, in particular, contributes to new security challenges.

These problems do not only affect Colombia: They also directly compromise US goals. A new US-Colombia partnership can better address the structural conditions that favor illicit activities, thus reducing the flow of cocaine to the United States. The two countries can also deepen cooperation to help governments in Central America, Mexico. and South America confront transnational criminal organizations, drawing on Colombia's experience as a leader in addressing regional security issues.

Deepening Colombia's alliances with the United States in security and economic issues is of paramount importance for both countries to achieve their common goals. The terms of this partnership must originate with a long-term plan to effectively transform the conditions that currently favor illegality and enable the production and trafficking of cocaine but then move to a long-term vision that fully maximizes the relationship and Colombia's regional role. This commitment to an even more robust, long-term strategic alliance will set Colombia on a path for sustainable growth and ensure that both countries' interests are mutually reinforcing.

This report outlines the main areas for US-Colombia cooperation that the Atlantic Council's US-Colombia Task Force identified to advance US and Colombia interests while fostering a more secure and prosperous Western Hemisphere.

Deepening Colombia's alliances with the United States in security and economic issues is of paramount importance for both countries to achieve their common goals.

The Atlantic Council's **US-Colombia Task Force**

olombia is in a period of momentous transition. It is rapidly consolidating its role as a key player in Latin America and an indispensable partner for the United States on many fronts. Simultaneously, the United States has become an important source of political and economic support for Colombia, making it imperative to deepen ties between the two countries at this critical time in Colombia's history. Colombia must not only ensure that peace is in fact achieved, but also grapple with the external and internal challenges that arise from the worsening of the crisis in Venezuela. US economic, humanitarian, and security assistance to Colombia, as well as continued bipartisan support, is thus vital for the long-term interests of Colombia and the United States.

The Atlantic Council's Adrienne Arsht Latin America Center launched its US-Colombia Task Force to create the foundation for a new plan of action vis-à-vis the US-Colombia economic and diplomatic relationship. This distinguished group built on the recommendations of the Atlantic Council's 2017 Colombia Task Force, which provided the Trump administration with a blueprint for US engagement with Colombia. This refocused and expanded US-Colombia Task Force provides a roadmap for the Duque administration, the Trump administration, and the US Congress on how to deepen and expand the relationship along three pillars: economic development; strengthening institutions and rule of law, promoting rural development, and tackling the world drug problem; and Colombia's leadership in the context of the Venezuela regional crisis.

The task force is co-chaired by Senator Roy Blunt (R-Missouri) and Senator Ben Cardin (D-Maryland). Senator Blunt serves on the Senate Appropriations Committee and Senator Cardin is a senior member of the Senate Foreign Relations Committee. In ad-



The United States Congress meets for a vote. Sustained bipartisan attention and commitment on Capitol Hill is key to strengthening US-Colombia relations.

dition to bipartisan leadership, members include a bipartisan grouping from the US House of Representatives: Congressman Bradley Byrne (R-Alabama); Congressman Ruben Gallego (D-Arizona); Congressman Gregory Meeks (D-New York); and Congressman Francis Rooney (R-Florida). The task force also includes former policymakers from and leaders in business and civil society in both the United States and Colombia, who provide expert insight to help guide the leaders of both countries in advancing the next chapter of the US-Colombia relationship. The task force is a truly nonpartisan, bicameral, binational working group with a wide reach and the foundation to create impact for years to come.

Historically Successful Partnership

COLOMBIA AS ONE OF THE UNITED STATES' CLOSEST ALLIES

he United States and Colombia have consolidated a close and mutually beneficial partnership over the past decades. Plan Colombia, announced in 1999 and sustained by US leaders of both political parties, laid the foundation for a strategic alliance that has widened to include sustainable development, trade and investment, hemispheric security, human rights, and other areas of cooperation. Plan Colombia has been one of the United States' most successful foreign policy initiatives in the past 20 years. Its success is visible today in Colombia's positive transformations and the safeguarding of vital US interests. As former National Security Advisor Stephen J. Hadley, who served under President George W. Bush and is now executive vice chair of the Atlantic Council, said, "Plan Colombia is an example of a visionary, bipartisan strategic framework that has supported the Colombian people and government as they have transformed Colombia into a peaceful democracy."17

Although Colombian taxpayer funds financed almost 95 percent of the total investment in Plan Colombia, US political leadership, military and police training, and technology assistance were crucial to the success of this bipartisan foreign policy initiative. US investment in Plan Colombia totals \$11 billion, with \$10 billion provided between 2000 and 2016—a number that represents less than 2 percent of the cost of the Iraq war over the same period. A strong return on US investment is evident. In those same years, Colombia significantly strengthened its institutional capacity and made notable progress combating drug trafficking, fighting illegal armed groups, and securing government control of territories. Additionally, Colombia's liberalized econ-

omy quadrupled in size, poverty and homicides fell by more than 50 percent, and kidnappings were reduced by 90 percent.¹⁹ With its improved security situation and strengthened democratic institutions, Colombia transitioned from being an aid recipient to a strategic ally of the United States and an exporter of security and political leadership in the region.

The successor strategy to Plan Colombia, Peace Colombia, was announced by President Barack Obama in February 2016. This multiyear initiative sought to scale up vital US support to help Colombia "win the peace," in the event of a peace agreement with the FARC.²⁰ Less than five months later, a peace agreement was signed. Peace Colombia was designed to consolidate Plan Colombia's security gains; advance counternarcotics efforts; reintegrate former combatants into society; expand state presence and institutions, especially in territories most affected by violence; provide titles and access to land for poor farmers; and promote justice and economic opportunities for Colombians.²¹ As with Plan Colombia, Colombian taxpayers were expected to fund close to 90 percent of the total budget for the initiative. In fiscal year (FY) 2018, the US Congress approved an omnibus appropriations measure funding Peace Colombia programs at \$391 million.²² Although President Trump's FY 2019 budget request for Colombia was \$265 million (a 32 percent reduction from the \$391 million appropriated by congress in FY 2018), the 2019 Consolidated Appropriations Act provided Colombia "no less than" \$418 million in funding.23 This additional assistance has a focus on drug eradication and interdiction efforts as well as rural security. For FY 2020, the administration requested \$344 million in funding for Colombia.²⁴ Continued and deep-



Colombian President Iván Duque shakes hands with NATO Secretary General Jens Stoltenberg after a meeting at the Alliance headquarters in Brussels, Belgium in 2018. Colombia is the first NATO global partner in Latin America.

ened US assistance to Colombia is more important than ever as Colombia receives a growing number of Venezuelan migrants and refugees and continues to work toward the implementation of the 2016 peace agreement. A stable and prosperous Colombia will safeguard US national security, economic, and geopolitical interests in the region, generating a strong return on US investment.

COLOMBIA AS A NATO PARTNER AND PARTICIPANT IN PEACEKEEPING OPERATIONS

olombia's cooperation with NATO started in ≥2013. Four years later, the Individual Partnership and Cooperation Program (IPCP) made Colombia NATO's first and only global partner in Latin America and the ninth in the world, alongside Afghanistan, Australia, Iraq, Japan, South Korea, Mon-

golia, New Zealand, and Pakistan. As a NATO partner, Colombia has access to and engages in various organization activities ranging from trainings and education to military exercises.

Given the challenges it has faced over the past five decades as well as its leading role in security and defense cooperation in Central and South America, Colombia has significant contributions to make to NATO and the global community. For example, the country recently started participating in the Science for Peace and Security Program, and was invited to a research workshop in Denmark this year, focusing on counterterrorism lessons from maritime piracy and narcotic interdiction. In addition, Colombia's International Demining Centre (CIDES) joined the network of NATO Partnership Training and Education Centers in March

2019. CIDES will contribute to the education and training of personnel from NATO nations and partners in the crucial areas of humanitarian procedures and military demining. Colombia and NATO plan to develop common approaches in supporting peace and security efforts. Under this same program, Colombia and NATO are working on the implementation of United Nations Security Council Resolution (UNSCR) 1325 on Women, Peace and Security, as well as protecting children and civilians in armed conflict.

At the same time, the IPCP will benefit Colombia, allowing it to access cooperation and training programs. The agreement is expected to improve the country's humanitarian operations, rescue missions, crisis management, and security collaboration for civil emergencies, as well as inform its fight against terrorism, cybersecurity, and organized crime. It also is expected to help export Colombia's experience, an added value for the Alliance. The program will reinforce both political dialogue and interoperability with the armed forces of partner countries. The US Congress can further support Colombia's role by advocating for Colombia to become a non-NATO ally.

Colombia also is advancing its participation in UN peacekeeping missions. The Colombian Armed Forces are training service members who will join UN forces to help countries in conflict achieve peace. Trainees will take courses on human rights, international humanitarian law, and UN Peacekeeping Operations commands and doctrine, while at the same time learning about the culture of the countries of placement.25



Colombian national policemen attend the inauguration of an international training school in Pijao, Tolima, Colombia in 2009. For decades Colombia, alongside the United States, has helped train policemen and military officials both within its own borders and in the region.

COLOMBIA AS A HUB FOR REGIONAL SECURITY

olombia is a strategic partner for the United → States and its success in combating organized crime has been a significant mutual achievement. Colombia's experience in that fight and the lessons learned from Plan Colombia have given the country considerable security expertise. Today, Colombia is training public servants from numerous countries on security-related issues. Between 2010 and 2018, over 46,000 individuals from eighty-one countries received training by Colombian public officials on the fight against drugs, the prevention and control of crime, the strengthening of the military and police, and citizen security and organizational development. About 60 percent of those trained were in Central America under the Triangular Cooperation Plan between Colombia and Canada (2013), and the Cooperation Plan between Colombia and the United States to strengthen Central America and the Caribbean (USCAP).

In 2012, the United States and Colombia signed the Regional Security Joint Action Plan. Since then, personnel from the military forces, police, and similar institutions of beneficiary countries have been trained. For 2020, Argentina, Ecuador, and Paraguay are projected to become beneficiary countries of the program. The United States and Colombia should expand their shared security portfolio in international hot spots where Colombia can play a pivotal role. This would advance US interests globally, while also reducing costs to the United States and minimizing cultural and language barriers.

In the last twenty years, Colombia's National Police has also increased its cooperation with various countries in the region as well as with Interpol, the international criminal police agency that the country joined in 1954. Colombia has taken a leading role in the creation and management of the American Police Community, or Ameripol, since 2007, an organization that integrates thirty-three police forces of Latin America and the Caribbean. Between 2010 and 2012, Colombia supported more than sixty "outsourcing" activities in security, benefiting more than 220 institutions and fifty national and local partners. With support from the United States, Colombia trained more than 10,000 officers in forensic investigation and special operations between 2009 and 2013.

In that same period, Colombia trained almost 22,000 military and police personnel from various countries.²⁶ To help advance police capabilities in the region, Colombia, in one year alone, trained police personnel from Guatemala, El Salvador, Panama, Jamaica, Peru, Ecuador, and Brazil. In total, through international cooperation agreements that focus on crimes of kidnapping and extortion, criminal investigation, criminal intelligence, and human rights, Colombia has made a substantial contribution to advancing security, providing assistance to sixteen countries in the region.

Colombia has the potential to become a security hub for the region. Colombia can play a fundamental role in helping to transform the regional security order, moving from reactivity and unilateralism to strategic planning, multilevel coordination, and the institutionalization of cooperation against transitional organized crime. For this to happen, the United States should continue supporting Colombia's military and police. Although Colombia plays a leading role on regional security issues, greater efforts must be made to ensure the continuity of its leadership as the country grapples with economic challenges and security concerns both internal and external in nature. In addition to the Venezuela crisis, the August 2019 announcement of a "new phase of the armed struggle" by Iván Márquez, a former FARC commander, is a clear indication of the many security challenges facing Colombia. By working with the United States to improve security in Colombia and in the region, the US-Colombia partnership—through efforts such as a joint evaluation of security capacities and security investment plans—can set the foundation for long-lasting prosperity and stability.

A Blueprint for a Modernized US-Colombia Partnership

ver the past decades, Colombia and the United States have consolidated a mutually beneficial partnership that has successfully safeguarded both nations' security interests. Under Plan Colombia, the country became an increasingly peaceful and prosperous democracy and, together, the United States and Colombia effectively reduced transnational organized crime, violence, coca cultivation, and drug trafficking. Now, with Colombia's improved security situation, strengthened economy, and increased leadership in the region, the bilateral relationship calls for a renewed partnership.

Instability in neighboring states and interference of extra-hemispheric powers in the region further reinforce the need for a deepened and modernized US-Colombia partnership. After rigorous consultations and discussions, the Atlantic Council's US-Colombia Task Force identified three major areas that will serve as the foundation for the bilateral relationship going forward: economic development; rule of law, rural development, and the fight against drugs; and joint leadership in the region.

The interests of Colombia and the United States are more intertwined than ever before. The new US-Colombia partnership should recognize this reality, and capitalize on the opportunities that this represents. The partnership will be further solidified as the United States supports Colombia's efforts to stabilize territories, foster rural development, and bring about a sustainable democratic transition in Venezuela. Economic and diplomatic ties will also be strengthened as both countries work together for the eventual reconstruction of Venezuela and the promotion of stability in other parts of the region, particularly in Central America.

7,

Building Sustainable Economic Development and Promoting Innovation

he United States and Colombia stand to benefit from a partnership that promotes economic development in both countries. Bilateral trade and investment offer multiple opportunities for economic growth that will directly benefit both economies. A stronger Colombian economy not only translates to improved living conditions for Colombians but also protects key US national security interests by undermining the drug trade and other illicit economies as well as illegal armed actors. A stronger economic partnership between the two countries will help the United States achieve greater engagement with Latin America to manage current challenges and seize growing opportunities.

The Atlantic Council's US-Colombia Task Force identified the following three areas as paramount to the bilateral economic relationship: trade and investment; formalization and taxation; and innovation, science, technology, and education. The first area explores opportunities for increased economic growth in both countries. The second area focuses on how to strengthen Colombia's taxation system and further develop the country's formal economy. Finally, the third area examines innovative opportunities for mutually beneficial exchange that further both nation's economic and security interests.

TRADE AND INVESTMENT

/ith an improved security situation, abundant natural resources, and an educated, growing middle class, Colombia has the potential to become an even stronger economic partner for the United States.²⁷ In 2012, the US-Colombia Trade Promotion Agreement (TPA) took effect. Upon entry into force, 80 percent of US exports of consumer and industrial goods and 50 percent of US exports of agricultural products to Colombia became duty free. The remaining tariffs are scheduled to phase out by 2027. Colombia should consider accelerating the elimination of certain non-agricultural tariffs, with a focus on industries that wouldn't be disrupted by the removal of such protections, to advance

US-Colombia bilateral trade and export flows in line with Colombia's other bilateral agreements. While US exports to Colombia decreased 16 percent, from \$16.4 billion in 2012 to \$13.7 billion in 2018. due in part to the sharp depreciation of the Colombian peso, agricultural and manufacturing exports continue to enjoy significant growth.28 According to the US International Trade Commis-

sion (ITC), the TPA will expand US exports by more than \$1.1 billion and increase US GDP by \$2.5 billion.

Fully implementing the TPA represents a significant opportunity for both countries. The results would not only increase trade, jobs, and economic growth, but also improve protections for intellectual property rights, labor rights, and the environment. Moreover, since Colombia's capacity to continue dealing with the Venezuelan crisis depends on the strength of its economy, the economic bilateral relationship will also benefit both countries' national security interests. However, for the US-Colombia TPA's potential to be fully realized, both countries must make changes. Colombia has yet to implement some aspects of the TPA to the fullest, including bills on internet service providers' responsibilities, commercial agency, and a screen TV quota, the ratification of the International Convention for the Protection of New Varieties of Plants (1991) treaty, and allowing for importation of duty free remanufactured goods.

Additionally, strengthened trade and investment between Colombia and the United States will help to provide some counterweight to China's growing influence in Latin America. Over the last twenty years, trade between China and Latin America has multiplied eighteen times, from \$12 billion in 2000 to \$224 billion in 2016.29 Today, China is the largest trading partner for Chile, Peru, and Brazil,³⁰ and, in the case of Colombia, China has

> moved to become its second-largest export partner.31 Whereas Chinese investment used to focus on oil and mining and agriculture, it is now expanding to other sectors of the economy including transport, finance, electricity generation and transmission, information and communications technology, and alternative energy.³² Deepening commercial relations between Colombia and the United States

will strengthen the commercial partnership in light of new Chinese economic interest, with the potential effect of having the bilateral relationship serve as a model for other countries seeing new Chinese economic interest.

Implementing reforms geared to decreasing uncertainty for companies seeking to do business in Colombia is also needed, as frequent changes in the tax system and in regulations for different sectors create instability and unpredictability. Colombia and the United States could also work together to identify opportunities for US companies in Colombia. In particular, given the rising tensions between the US and China, several US companies are seeking to relocate from China. The Colombian government and US companies could look for

Fully



Employees organize bouquets of flowers to be exported overseas, ahead of Valentine's Day, at a farm in Facatativa, Cundinamarca, Colombia. The United States is a leading importer of Colombian flowers.

opportunities for mutually beneficial agreements that facilitate their relocation to Colombia. Colombia also needs to give predictability and stability to intellectual property rights by not imposing discriminatory compulsory licenses.

The United States, for its part, should strive to accelerate the process of implementing pending TPA related matters. These include the regional accumulation provision with Peru and other Pacific Alliance countries for textiles and lifting environmental barriers to Colombian palm biodiesel. The US government should also work with the Colombian government to speed up and harmonize sanitary and phytosanitary requirements to facilitate and accelerate the entry of certain Colombian products—mainly agricultural ones—into the US market. Although 105 Colombian agricultural products have preferential access to the US market within the TPA, and seven are currently undergoing the market access process, fewer than ten match the phytosanitary protocols required to enter the

United States. This year Colombia is expecting tangible progress for top market-access priorities: fresh peppers, mangoes, pitayas (also known as dragon fruit), papayas, watermelons, cantaloupes, blueberries, and passifloras (yellow passion fruit, sweet granadilla, purple passion fruit, and banana passion fruit).

Thus, the US government could make it a priority for the US Department of Agriculture's Animal and Plant Health Inspection Service (APHIS) to expedite the approval of these products. Colombia, in turn, could prepare to effectively promote and market these products in the United States. Given the importance of reducing coca crops for both the United States and Colombia, devising mechanisms for expedient entry into the US market of agricultural products that are part of crop substitution schemes is also a priority. The United States could also facilitate the entry of Colombian products into the US market by allowing companies to fulfill required processes at competitive prices. For

example, Colombian companies could be allowed to carry out product radiation processes in the United States as opposed to Colombia, to reduce costs and logistical barriers. The United States could also work with Colombia to establish a fast-track process for companies that already have the certificate of economic operator authorized by both Colombia's tax agency, the National Directorate of Customs and Taxation (DIAN), and the Business Alliance for Secure Commerce.

During the last years. Colombia has made enormous progress on labor legislation, due, in part, to the sustained implementation of the Labor Action Plan. The government has increased the number of labor inspectors and issued new regulations to strengthen control over abusive subcontracting methods. Regarding the judiciary, Colombia has

made significant progress in pursuing and solving cases related to instances of violence and threats against union members. The United States has recognized this progress. The United States and Colombia can further improve labor conditions by revising their agreement to include success metrics that focus on preventing labor violations rather than only sanctioning them. A modern approach would promote legal flexible labor tools to effectively increase produc-

tivity and reduce job informality and unemployment. Examples include temporary work, part-time work, telework, flexible salaries, and subcontracting, among others.33

For Colombia's economy to grow and offer new market possibilities for the United States, Colombian firms need to grow stronger and create jobs. As explored below, a better economic situation is also the most effective and sustainable way to reduce cocaine trafficking from Colombia to the United States. Granting Colombia's steel and aluminum products entering the US market an exemption from the 25 percent and 10 percent tariffs, respectively, which were imposed under Section 232 of the Trade Expansion Act of 1962, would contribute to Colombia's economic growth. While Colombian exports of these products represent only 0.5 percent of the US market, these tariffs affect the installed capacity and job creation of Colombian companies. Moreover, the Colombian government has implemented several additional antidumping measures against steel and aluminum products coming from countries that contribute to world overcapacity, especially China.

The United States should also continue to support the Pacific Alliance. This alliance, which Colombia helped create, is now considering merging with another regional bloc in Latin America, Mercosur, and wants to bring in more partners and establish new trade deals with Australia, Canada, New

> Zealand, and Singapore. If this happens, the global economy could experience a tremendous boom. Colombia should continue with its commitment and dedication to solving the different issues that could arise during this process, and the United States should support and even encourage this alliance.

Opportunities for bilateral investment, which benefit both countries, are also growing. Colombia is committed to developing efficient capital mar-

kets, creating jobs, and building legal and regulatory systems that meet world-class standards for security and transparency. Its accession to the Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development (OECD) in May 2018 reflects the country's attainment of these standards and encourages further investment and economic cooperation. US foreign direct investment (FDI) in Colombia totaled \$7.2 billion in 2017 and Colombian FDI in the United States totaled \$2.6 billion, supporting 5,500 US jobs.³⁴ There is ample potential for increased US investment in Colombia, especially in areas of innovation, science, technology, and agroindus-

There is ample opportunity for increased **US investment** in Colombia, especially in areas of innovation, science, technology, and agroindustry.

US-COLOMBIA PRIORITIES MOVING FORWARD TRADE AND INVESTMENT

COLOMBIA

- Implement fully pending aspects of the TPA to increase trade, jobs, and economic growth, but also improve protections for intellectual property rights, labor rights, and the environment.
- Launch structured promotional campaigns for Colombian products entering the US market.

UNITED STATES

- Implement pending aspects of the TPA, including the regional cumulation provision for textiles and increased access to biodiesel products.
- Grant Colombia's steel and aluminum products entering the US market an exemption from tariffs of 25 percent and 10 percent, respectively.

US-COLOMBIA PARTNERSHIP

- Harmonize sanitary and phytosanitary requirements to accelerate the entry of preapproved Colombian products into the US market. Top market access priorities include: fresh peppers, mangoes, and passifloras.
- Promote the double taxation agreement between the two countries to increase legal security and incentives for bilateral investment.

try. As well, Colombia's acceptance of US federal motor vehicle standards opens additional areas for US investment.

For these opportunities to materialize, Colombia should strive to be more attractive to foreign investors, and can do so by offering more transparent conditions for FDI and reducing regulations, nontariff barriers, as well as cumbersome operations and foreign trade procedures. Strengthening the institutions tasked with ensuring compliance with labor, social security, and tax laws, and increasing coordination among these agencies, will improve enforcement.

Reforming an inefficient tax system should be, as explored below, a priority for future administrations. In addition, Colombia should spotlight itself as an investment destination, showing its potential to become a regional investment hub for the United States. Strengthening the rule of law and gaining institutional control of territories affected

by violence, which are discussed later in this report, will also serve to minimize companies' concerns about political risk and uncertainty.

The United States can help foster conditions for long-term US investment in Colombia. Promoting the double taxation agreement between the two countries would provide investors with legal security and additional incentives for investment. In addition, US foreign policy toward Colombia should avoid producing any uncertainty around the bilateral relationship. The August 2019 certification of Colombia as cooperative in counternarcotics efforts was important to avoid such uncertainty. Any ambiguity in the strength of the relationship negatively impacts investment and commercial flows. Sending the message that the two countries support each other as strategic allies is good for business.

FORMALIZATION AND TAXATION

healthy Colombian economy provides the United States with greater market opportunities for goods and services. It can also help to stabilize the territories where illicit groups operate and illicit economies thrive, especially the cocaine market. Two of the most critical barriers to economic development in Colombia are the country's tax system and high levels of informality. The United States can partner with Colombia to support much-needed reforms to counter these two challenges.

Tax revenues in Colombia have increased consistently from the 1990s to around 15 percent of the country's GDP today, but remain very low by international standards:35 the OECD average is 26 per-

cent of GDP-a measure similar to that of Argentina (29 percent) and Brazil (26 percent). Part of the problem is Colombia's tax structure. In Colombia, around 45 percent of these revenues come from taxes on goods and services, which tend to be regressive. Corporate taxes are considered relatively high, with rates of up to 34 percent³⁶ and revenues accounting for 3.8 percent of GDP, which discourages formalization and entrepre-

neurship. The Duque administration did pass tax reform in 2018, which is currently under revision by the Constitutional Court and aims to progressively lower corporate tax rates down to 30 percent by 2022. Still, in comparison, the average corporate tax in Latin American countries in 2018 was 28 percent.³⁷ Dividends to individuals are taxed at a small percentage, and while this avoids the double taxation of distributed profits, it reduces progressivity. Meanwhile, revenues from personal income taxes represent 1.1 percent of GDP and social security contributions are 2.1 percent of GDP.

The progressivity of the tax system is under-

mined by generous tax relief and exemptions there are more than 200 exemptions, representing approximately 30 percent of tax collection—which mostly benefit the wealthier sectors of Colombian society.³⁸ Colombia's tax system still needs reforms to enhance progressivity and raise more revenue that can then be channeled to expand social policies. However, an eventual tax reform should maintain corporate taxes at levels comparable to those of other OECD countries. Colombia should also improve transparency and stability in the development and implementation of this updated taxation system.

Tax evasion should also be addressed to strengthen state capacity and foster economic

> development—this will enhance Colombia's ability to be a strong economic and security ally to the United States. The DIAN has local branches in only forty-three of the country's 1,121 municipalities, and the tax officer-to-inhabitant ratio is half the regional average (one to 10,000). Evasion of income tax and value-added tax is estimated to be 4 percent of the GDP, and informality, discussed below, also facilitates tax evasion while reducing the tax base.39 Overall, the tax system significantly distorts economic activity and has a

very small redistributive impact.

Colombia has a large informal economy, equivalent to one-third of its GDP.40 As of 2015, about 60 percent of firms and 48 percent of workers remained in the informal sector. In the countryside, almost two-thirds of farmers lack formal property titles to their land,41 and although informality decreased by seven percentage points since 2001, 42 it is still a critical barrier to development. Informality negatively affects economic growth as it promotes low-paying jobs, unemployment, and lower productivity by allocating resources ineffectively. Because of this, informal firms have lower access

Two of the most critical barriers to economic development in Colombia are the country's tax system and high levels of informality.

to credit, use more unskilled labor, adopt less technology, perform less training, and have low access to public goods.

Informal firms limit the growth of formal firms as the former do not comply with standards and regulations, which artificially lowers their costs, generating unfair competition. More than half of formal firms in Colombia report that informal firms are one of their top challenges.⁴³ In addition, informality reduces the tax base and access to credit and social insurance for lower income families. Informality also discourages investment and productivity and widens economic disparities across the country, while limiting poverty reduction and the consolidation of the middle class. As an important obstacle for Colombian development, informality compromises efforts to reduce coca cultivation and combat illegal armed groups, therefore undermining US law enforcement and national security interests. Additionally, informality makes it harder for US firms to seize the opportunities that Colombia's expanding market has to offer.

The United States and Colombia can engage in mutually beneficial cooperation that helps Colombia reduce informality. The two countries should continue training labor inspectors, as they did in a program from 2012 to 2016, with more focus on prevention of labor violations rather than sanctions. Colombia should continue its fight against abusive and illegal subcontracting as well as using legal subcontracting as a necessary tool to increase formality, employment, competitiveness, and productivity. The United States can work with Colombia to devise best practices for achieving several goals. These include streamlining the process for firm creation and closure; reducing unnecessary norms and barriers for firms across geographical divisions; making labor regulations more flexible; and increasing access to credit and other business services. To incentivize formalization, the Colombian government can also engage in public information campaigns to educate workers about the benefits of working in the formal economy (sick days, maternal leave, paid vacation days, etc.). The country also can improve access to credit and other business services to incentivize firms to register their activity and pay taxes.

Improving the modernization process and strengthening the governability of Colombia's tax agency, DIAN, is of critical importance. Colombia needs to update the software that its taxation system relies on, as it is ineffective and facilitates corruption and money laundering. Strengthening the DIAN and customs agencies—with US assistance—is also a priority because both have been permeated by trafficking groups and other types of criminal organizations. Digitalizing the customs, tax, ports, and airports systems, as well as incorporating blockchain technology would allow for higher traceability of goods and improved intelligence, which favor legal activities and tax collection while creating obstacles for illicit economies. Digitalizing the economy would also benefit US companies doing business in Colombia. The United States could support this process by facilitating the training of engineers. US companies could also contribute by verifying the quality of new information systems.

It is also important to accelerate the process to conduct US immigration procedures on Colombian soil. United States immigration authorities have begun high-level talks with Colombia's Foreign Ministry to study this possibility. This means that travelers departing the special US designated immigration area in El Dorado Airport in Bogotá would be subject to the laws of the US, and US officers would conduct the same immigration, customs, and agriculture inspections of international air travelers typically performed upon arrival in the United States. A close working relationship on the ground means that authorities from both nations will be able to share information on immigration, customs, and agriculture.

US-COLOMBIA PRIORITIES MOVING FORWARD FORMALIZATION AND TAXATION

COLOMBIA

- Reform the current tax structure to increase tax revenues while also encouraging formalization and entrepreneurship. An eventual tax reform should maintain corporate taxes at levels comparable to those of other OECD countries.
- Incentivize formalization by educating workers about the benefits of participating in the formal economy, while also offering improved access to credit and other business services.

US-COLOMBIA PARTNERSHIP

- Cooperate to reduce informality and protect formal firms doing business in Colombia. The partnership should work to devise best practices for simplifying the process of firm creation and closure; reduce unnecessary norms and barriers for firms; make labor regulations more flexible to increase formalization, productivity, and competitiveness; and improve the modernization process of Colombia's tax agency, DIAN.
- Accelerate the process to conduct US immigration customs and inspections at El Dorado airport in Bogotá, Colombia. A close working relationship on the ground will allow authorities from both nations to share real-time information on immigration, customs, and agriculture.
- Collaborate to increasingly digitalize Colombia's economy, as well as its customs, tax, ports and airport systems, to enhance the traceability of goods, improve tax collection, and undermine illicit economies.

INNOVATION, SCIENCE, TECHNOLOGY, AND EDUCATION

or Colombia to achieve the long-term development needed to stop cocaine production and further advance legality, advancements in innovation, science, technology, and education are needed. In particular, for Colombia to keep the high growth rates that maintain advances in poverty reduction and development, it must diversify production and increase productivity and sustainability. Creating legal opportunities in areas affected by violence and illicit economies also requires transforming rural economies. Innovation, science, technology, and education are essential to these quests. The United States has ample experience in these areas and can share best practices with Colombia. At the same time, both countries can engage in new, productive collaborative initiatives, as explained below.

According to the World Bank, in 2017, the total amount of government and private sector funds spent on research and development (R & D) in Colombia was only 0.24 percent of the country's GDPan extremely low value compared to the average investment in the sector for Latin America and the Caribbean (0.8 percent). Investment in science, technology, and innovation in Colombia is slightly higher (0.65 percent of GDP). In the 2018 Global Innovation Index (GII), which measures the performance of innovation ecosystems in 126 countries, Colombia ranked sixty-third, below Chile, Costa Rica, Mexico, and Uruguay. In 2017, about 30 percent of science, technology, and innovation funding came from the public sector and 70 percent from the private sector. For R & D, the percentages were 25 percent and 75 percent, respectively.44

The United States should work with Colombia to create a development strategy to fund research centers in Colombia. It should be a results-oriented and impact-driven strategy, as are the funding strategies of the United States' National Science Foundation and National Institutes of Health. The United States could also share its expertise in strengthening industry-university collaboration, given its ample experience in connecting university training with private-sector needs and in promoting innovation by research centers that responds to the needs of firms. Promoting innovation, science, and technology in Colombia will help disrupt the conditions that facilitate illicit activities while also maximizing human capital in this important US free-trade partner.

The United States could also support Colombian efforts to provide technical assistance to firms in order to increase their productivity and prepare them for more sophisticated innovation processes. The United States has significant experience in the design, implementation, and evaluation of such schemes. The US Manufacturing Extension Partnership, for example, has been successful in improving production processes, upgrading technology capabilities, increasing competitiveness of firms, and facilitating innovation throughout the United States.45

Education is another area rich with potential for US-Colombia collaboration. Colombia faces multiple challenges to achieving a high-quality and equitable education system. Given that the transition from illicit to licit economies requires new human-capital development, education in Colombia should be an area of importance to the United States. The United States can make several contributions. For example, Colombia lags behind most Latin American countries in English proficiency. In 2018, it was ranked 60 among 88 countries in the world in this category.46 The Colombian government has tried to increase the number of English teachers, but at least 3,200 more are needed. The United States could help to train Colombian English teachers and provide additional scholarships for US teachers who seek to teach English in Colombia.47 At the same time, Colombia could offer education opportunities for US teachers, especially Spanish-language programs, while they teach English in public schools in Colombia. This and other types of exchange programs for language training would benefit both countries.

Advancing the interests of both Colombia and the United States in vulnerable territories requires prioritizing rural education. The Colombian government is creating partnerships with land grant universities to develop programs focused on agriculture. Purdue University, for example, has partnered with Colombia to promote collaborative research, education, and economic development activities. One of the projects consists of a master plan for sustainable development of the Orinoquía region based on analysis- and research-based tools to enable a deeper understanding of the economic and development opportunities related to agriculture and tourism.⁴⁸ Fostering such partnerships will catalyze initiatives for mutually beneficial collaboration, while contributing to development, stabilization, and legality, all of which undermine the coca industry and the rise of criminal actors.

Colombia and the United States can also broaden opportunities for educational exchange via scholarships, grants, exchange programs, and joint research, aiming to create long-lasting connections between people and institutions in both countries, which, in turn, can promote innovation, About 8,000 Colombians study in the United States every year, with an economic impact of \$302 million.⁴⁹ Approximately 236 of these students receive full scholarships through the Fulbright Program, while others get partial funding through collaborative programs between Fulbright and Colombian agencies. Expanding opportunities for postgraduate training of Colombian students in the United States would make a direct contribution to the development of human capital and economic development in Colombia, which would benefit shared US-Colombia interests.

Similarly, Colombia can become a preferred destination for US students looking to study in Latin America. Today, only around 900 Americans study in Colombia every year—about one-fourth of the number of study-abroad students going to Peru and Ecuador.50 Central American countries like Guatemala and Nicaragua receive more than 2,000 American students every year, despite not having any university ranked among the top fifty in Latin America. Colombia, to the contrary, has three universities ranked among the top thirty and one among the top ten.⁵¹ Colombia can become an important education destination for US students, especially for learning Spanish and studying biodiversity. One government agency, such as the new Ministry of Science, Innovation and Technology, should coordinate different efforts and initiatives to facilitate alliances between US and Colombian universities to promote Colombia as one of the top study-abroad destinations for US

students seeking to study in Latin America.

Finally, creating programs specifically for ethnic minorities is also a priority for both countries. The Colombian Ministry of Education is currently advancing an agreement with historically black colleges and universities (HBCUs) to provide funding for Afro-Colombian students to study in the United States while offering scholarships for foreign students to study in Colombia. The United States can share its experience in developing programs to support the enrollment of women, ethnic minorities, and low-income students in STEM areas (science, technology, engineering, and mathematics). Exchanging such best practices with Colombia can have a positive impact on education and innovation in Colombia while furthering cultural exchanges.

US-COLOMBIA PRIORITIES MOVING FORWARD INNOVATION, SCIENCE, TECHNOLOGY, AND EDUCATION

COLOMBIA

- Designate one agency responsible for coordinating alliances between universities in Colombia and the United States. Both large and small universities should benefit from this program to ensure that students form all ethnic and socioeconomic backgrounds have access to new opportunities. Specifically, the agency should:
 - Promote collaborative research and education between Colombian and US universities.
 - Broaden and increase awareness about opportunities for educational exchanges via scholarships, grants, and study abroad programs, especially for ethnic minorities. Promote Colombia as a prime education destination for US students in areas such as Spanish and biodiversity.

UNITED STATES

• The United States can offer trainings to Colombian English teachers and provide additional scholarships to US English teachers seeking to teach in Latin America. While in Colombia, US English teachers will have access to additional education opportunities, especially Spanish language programs.

US-COLOMBIA PARTNERSHIP

 Collaborate to strengthen industry-university collaboration in Colombia to foster innovation. The United States can also help Colombian research institutions replicate the funding models and development strategies of US research centers. By promoting innovation, science, and technology in Colombia, the partnership will help transform the conditions that incentivize illegality, safeguarding both countries' national security interests.



Colombian soldiers patrol aboard a highspeed, armored boat over the Caquetá river during an army training near Tres Esquinas army base.

Strengthening **Institutions and Rule of Law while Combating Illicit Drugs**

rucial to the advancement of shared US and Colombia interests is the stabilization and development of territories where coca is cultivated, illegal armed groups thrive, and populations face violence, low-quality governance, and poverty. The state needs to gain institutional control of these territories and foster development to accelerate transformation. Employing an integral drug policy that not only decreases coca crops in the short run but also focuses on the other stages of the drug market—including cocaine production, trafficking, and consumption—is essential for tackling the world drug problem in a way that achieves long-term goals.

These strategies also require protecting human-rights defenders and social leaders. Defending the lives of its citizens is Colombia's principal duty, and protecting civic leaders is needed for democracy to flourish. Transforming the institutional capacity of the state in vulnerable territories, tackling the world drug problem in an integral way, and protecting social leaders will change the structural conditions that breed illegality, undermine the well-being of the Colombian population, and threaten US national security interests.

TERRITORIAL CONTROL AND RURAL DEVELOPMENT

Colombia will

States.

need long-term

wo critical barriers to Colombia's security and development-weak institutions and lack of economic opportunities in rural areas—affect both Colombia and the United States. These conditions serve as the breeding ground for coca cultivation and cocaine production, illegal mining, and environmental degradation as well as the strengthening of criminal organizations, all of which affect the well-being of Colombian citizens as well as US national security interests.

Critical to regaining control of rural areas is implementation of the Peace Agreement with the FARC. Following the UN Security Council's July 2019 visit to Colombia, the task force welcomes the de-

cision of the Colombian government to request that the UN's verification and monitoring mandate and term be extended for an additional year beyond September 25, 2019, and the Security Council's agreement to give such request prompt consideration.

For the Colombian government, devoting the necessary effort and resources to implement the agreement is critical. Also critical is bringing to justice

those who are in stated violation of the agreement and intend to return to conflict. All actors in Colombia are encouraged to work together to ensure peace agreement implementation. To accomplish this, Colombia will need resources beyond its own. We call on the US Congress and the US administration to provide significant resources for implementation over the coming years.

At the same time, Colombia will need long-term support beyond that of the United States, especially considering the fiscal strains of the Venezuela crisis (discussed in the following section). Continued financial assistance from the international community for implementation of the Colombian peace process is crucial for its success. Thus, we

propose that the World Bank and/or Inter-American Development Bank convene an international consortium of donors to build on or stregthen existing efforts, develop a long-term funding plan, and then dedicate the necessary financial support.

In addition to the need for peace agreement implementation, weak or absent institutions must be addressed as each represent major threats to security and stability in Colombia. In places where the state is absent or weak, illegal armed groups and illicit economies thrive. As the FARC laid down their arms, preexisting and new armed groups moved in to fill the vacuum the rebels had left. These groups profit off the cocaine business and other illicit econ-

> omies such as illegal mining and the smuggling of goods.

> Many of the communities that believed the end of the FARC meant the arrival of the state are experiencing fierce battles be-

support beyond tween different criminal groups that of the United competing over illicit rents.52 According to official data, more than twenty-five illegal armed groups, with a total of about 7,000 members, operate in the country today.⁵³ The August 2019 call to arms by former FARC commander Iván Márquez reinforces

the critical importance of meaningful reintegration of ex-combatants and attention to unmet needs in rural areas, the parts of the accord most behind in terms of implementation.

Although Colombia has experienced in the last few years some of the lowest homicide rates in its recent history, violence is on the rise in some areas of the country, especially those affected by illicit economies and where the state has traditionally been weak. Today, Colombia continues to have the world's highest number of internally displaced persons,54 and recently the number of victims of land mines and other explosives has soared.55 Attacks against social leaders and human rights defenders have been on the rise since 2016, as explained below, and more than 100 former FARC members have been assassinated since the signing of the peace accords.56

Illicit economies thrive not only because institutions are weak but also because of the lack of economic opportunities. Coca grows in municipalities with very high levels of poverty and job informality⁵⁷ and low tax revenue, connectivity, and institutional development.⁵⁸ Public goods provision is also significantly lower than the national average: about one-third of the population is illiterate and 18 percent of minors are not enrolled in school.⁵⁹ Coca growers do not have higher earnings than most Colombian peasants; however, coca allows peasants to make money in areas with high transportation costs, a lack of facilities and chains to collect, store, and bring products to market, and poor access to credit, among other factors. Peasants receive, per hectare of coca grown, about \$130-which is 56 percent of the monthly minimum wage. In areas with coca crops, each coca-growing family cultivates between 0.5 and 1.8 hectares (ha) of coca and uses any additional hectares to cultivate legal crops.⁶⁰ Almost 27 percent of households in rural Colombia face monetary poverty. The percentage rises to 57 percent in areas where coca crops are present. In addition, approximately 90 percent of children ages six to nine living in areas with coca crops work in the fields.⁶¹

To help Colombia to dismantle illegal armed groups, fight coca cultivation and drug trafficking, and protect vulnerable populations, especially ethnic minorities, the United States should support its efforts to consolidate effective and legitimate state institutions in previously disenfranchised territories and promote rural development. This strategy requires a holistic long-term approach that goes beyond Colombian military and police deployment in areas affected by crime and violence.

Rather than investing in small-scale projects in many areas of the country, the United States should support an ambitious, multidimensional plan that includes security, justice, formalization of land property rights, education, health and other public goods provision, and economic opportunities to help vulnerable territories embark on a sustainable path to development. Although coca crops are located in twenty-two of the thirty-two Colombian departments, 60 percent of all coca crops are concentrated in three of these departments: Nariño, Putumayo, and Norte de Santander. Furthermore, 44 percent of these crops grow in ten municipalities (Tibú, Sardinata, and El Tarra in Norte de Santander; Tumaco, El Charco, and Barbacoas in Nariño: Puerto Asís and Orito in Putumavo: El Tambo in Cauca; and Tarazá in Antioquia). 62 This means that a successful, holistic intervention in ten municipalities could change the conditions of territories responsible for almost half the entire national coca production. This strategy will require careful planning and substantial resources for implementation. However, only a long-term, targeted approach will yield lasting results.

With support from different multilateral agencies, Colombia has created several funds, three of which were established with the World Bank, the Inter-American Development Bank, and the United Nations to transform vulnerable territories, help them transition into licit economies, and consolidate peace. 63 Additional resources should be provided to these funds to support interventions seeking to transform prioritized territories. Going forward, this funding model could be replicated to aid other countries in the region that are spiraling into violence, criminality, illicit economies, and poor governance.

As a first step, both countries should take stock of previous interventions in rural areas. Different initiatives have been implemented by Colombian agencies and international organizations in attempts to bring the state to vulnerable communities, promote rural development, and advance democracy. Some of these interventions have focused explicitly on reducing coca cultivation and undermining criminal organizations. The US Agency for International Development (USAID) has led multiple projects pursuing these goals and has evaluated their impact individually. However, individual assessments have not provided conclusive evidence as to what ini-



Workers eradicate coca leaf plantations as part of a government counter-narcotics program in El Peñol, Nariño, Colombia. The United States should continue its support of Colombia as it works to fight coca cultivation and drug trafficking.

tiatives (or combination of initiatives) can be most successful in strengthening institutions and rule of law, promoting rural development, and eradicating coca crops. The US-Colombia partnership should conduct a rigorous assessment of all previous interventions to determine how to best allocate development resources in the future.

How can the Colombian state consolidate its institutions in vulnerable territories? President Duque's plan to consolidate institutions and development in areas most affected by violence, crime, and poverty, called Zonas Futuro⁶⁴ (Future Zones), entails the coordinated action of different state agencies to offer basic services, transition from illicit to licit economies, and protect the environment. This strategy will be implemented in 2.4 percent of the national territory—this is where about one-third of

coca crops are located and where a large portion of the killing of social leaders has occurred. At the same time, the government has launched a stabilization program (announced in the Paz con Legalidad⁶⁵ or Peace with Legality plan), a defense and security plan,66 and a drug policy plan (Ruta Futuro⁶⁷ or Future Path). These plans deem it critical to create an integral policy that brings together authorities at national, departmental, and municipal levels under a shared vision. These policy plans focus on long-term goals, and they all recognize the importance of considering local contexts and promoting active community participation. Colombia should continue to pursue this type of integral, holistic approach that builds on the participation of local communities and requires the coordination of different state agencies and levels of government. Success requires that these initiatives are coordinated by the Office of the President and have the presidency's full support. Ensuring constant accountability is also essential for implanting these interventions.

The United States should work with the Colombian government in its quest to address the structural conditions that reproduce violence and breed illegality in critical territories. Specifically, USAID could provide funding and technical assistance to large-scale, holistic interventions including the formalization of land property rights, public goods, viable projects for rural development, and institutional development—especially around local justice, citizen security, and participatory democracy. In addition, the US International Development Finance Corporation (DFC), once operational in October 2019, should identify Colombia as a priority for development financing and encourage private sector-led development. Coordinating with other donors is crucial for interventions to be efficient. These efforts will pay off in the long run by undermining illicit economies and boosting Colombia's role as a strong security ally in Latin America.

Sustainable rural development must be market-driven. It requires the participation of both the state and the private sector. Cases like Colanta, a Colombian cooperative of cattle farmers that grew to become a leading company in the dairy sector, show the viability and sustainability of this type of initiative. With more than 10,000 members throughout the country, Colanta has generated more than 50,000 rural jobs. Another example of success is Corporación Colombia Internacional (CCI), a state and private owned company that helps farmers structure their productive projects by presenting them with viable and environmentally sustainable licit crops they can cultivate in their respective region, helping them develop cost structures, facilitating their association with other farmers, and identifying potential international and national buyers for their products. CCI also provides technical assistance to farmers for three years and serves as a guarantor to buyers participating in the project. Between 2005 and 2018, more than 573,000 rural families have benefited from this model, of which 7,520 are indigenous peoples and 6,500 are Afro-Colombians, 68



Coffee grower Ramon Eliodoro Mejia poses after selling 613 kg (1,351 pounds) of organic coffee during the weighing and sale process at a warehouse of the National Coffee Growers Federation in Pueblo Bello, Cesar, Colombia. Generating economic opportunities for farmers is crucial for rural development.

The US-Colombia partnership could support these projects at the outset by promoting investment delegations from the United States to support joint ventures for projects on alternative products. The partnership could also help with the commercialization of products. Legal products that have substituted coca crops could be promoted and marketed as a special type of fair trade good, and the United States could assist Colombia in adopting the best practices in agriculture, organic produce, and manufacturing, and prioritizing its access to the US market. Improving living conditions in rural Colombia advances US law enforcement and national security interests.

Examples of successful private partnerships to foster rural development also suggest that US and Colombian companies can work together and support vulnerable communities. Nestlé Nespresso SA, the Colombian Coffee Growers Federation (FNC). the foundation of the National Association of Entrepreneurs of Colombia (ANDI Foundation), and the Howard G. Buffett Foundation, for example, are working under an agreement whereby Nespresso acquires coffee from 100 producers in the Nariño

> Improving living conditions in rural Colombia advances **US law enforcement** and national security interests.

department who have substituted their coca crops for coffee plantations, while the Buffett Foundation helps to improve public goods provision in their communities.69

Other public-private partnerships entail securing funds for projects to advance core business interests as well as development objectives. In the last two years, USAID has promoted such projects in Colombia through its Global Development Alliance, with most of the funding coming from the private sector. In these projects, companies are involved—and have a stake—in development projects. Both the United States and Colombia should support these initiatives and facilitate the involvement of the private sector.

The Colombian government could create a database or program to match farmers interested in substituting coca crops with parties interested in buying products. This initiative could have a large impact as the lack of a systematic way to connect new suppliers of licit products with buyers presents a major challenge for crop-substitution programs. The US and Colombian governments could also support these initiatives by increasing the access of licit substitute products to US and international markets. The United States also could cooperate with the Colombian private sector to facilitate processes of technology transfer, especially in the agricultural sector. In particular, Colombia could explore possible technology transfer and training agreements with state governments in the United States in agricultural areas including Kansas, Missouri, Iowa, Colorado, Nebraska, and Indiana. One possibility would be to create a "fellows" program to train Colombians on agricultural techniques for between six and twelve months in the United States under the condition that they return to Colombia to advise regional and local governments as well as farmers' organizations.

Yet both countries should recognize that not all rural development can be based on agriculture. About 20 percent of coca crops are located in national natural parks and forest preserves, where coca crops either cannot be substituted for licit crops or can only be substituted in minimal quantities.70 Identifying opportunities around biodiversity and environmental protection is crucial to designing policies that are appropriate for these areas. It is also important to consider allowing people to live in natural parks, rather than forbidding it, and creating opportunities for residents to work with the state in comanaging the parks and engaging in sustainability projects.

Considering the needs, preferences, and strengths of organized indigenous and Afro-Colombian communities in lands they own collectively also is of paramount importance since more than 25 percent of coca crops are located in their territories. Promoting development in these communities entails not only thinking about the specific product that can work but also about how the community can cooperate to maintain the required infrastructure,

sell their products, and make substitution projects sustainable. It is important to support the organizational capacity of these communities and take into account the particular strengths—and challenges—of cohesive communities with collective property rights. For example, these communities have been found to be more effective at preventing deforestation,71 resisting against illegal armed actors,⁷² and opposing coca crops in their territories.73 Considering

these communities as partners for environmental protection and development will open new possibilities insofar as the government ensures their safety.

In both natural parks and collectively owned lands, payments for ecosystem services (PES) can be a viable opportunity—although perhaps not a sustainable one in the long run. PES can work as a transitional mechanism that allows residents of these areas to invest in green projects.74 For example, a community could use PES to develop highly differentiated products of high quality with the expectation that in the future the market pays for their added value. Colombia already has success stories: The Afro-Colombian community of El Roble in Tumaco is, for example, producing premium cacao that has received awards in Paris and Tokyo. Other possibilities include ecotourism and artisanal handicrafts. Colombia and the United States should partner to open new markets and create incentives for scaling green projects.

Colombia and the United States also can jointly address specific critical barriers to rural development with ambitious projects that can impact several communities. The formalization of property rights, for example, is a priority. Colombia, the World Bank, the Inter-American Development Bank, the United States, and three European countries are coming together to offer a large-scale solution: The Multipurpose Cadaster Project. This program will develop a land administration system to strengthen the security of property rights, facilitate access to

> land and property information, and support land tenure formalization for about 67,000 people, of which about 40 percent are women. The project has a differential approach for Afro-Colombian and indigenous communities.⁷⁵ Partnerships like this support Colombia's efforts to develop state institutions and promote rural development in vulnerable areas, undermining illicit armed actors and creating barriers to coca cultivation and cocaine trafficking.

In reducing coca cultivation, a critical shortterm goal is adjusting the National Integral Program for the Substitution of Illicit Crops (PNIS). Under this program, the government committed to provide monthly payments and technical assistance to families who agreed to eradicate their illicit crops and embark on licit economic activities. Of the 99,000 families that signed the agreement, 94 percent have eradicated their coca crops, honoring their commitments. Furthermore, according to UN data, coca replanting has only occurred in 0.6 percent of cases where growers joined the voluntary crop substitution program. This is quite a successful outcome compared to the 36 percent

Colombia and the United States should partner to open new markets and create incentives for scaling green projects.



Colombians uproot coca crops in rural areas. Rural development in Colombia is key to the reduction of coca crops and eradication of the illict drug trade.

replanting rate of crops uprooted through forced eradication.76

However, only 67 percent of the families have received subsidies and only 40 percent have received technical assistance. In most cases, subsidies and assistance started quite late in the process, compromising their ability to pursue a licit, productive project. It is now clear that the program is underfunded, has several design and implementation problems, and will not be viable if it is not adjusted.⁷⁷ The minimal essential elements of the crop-substitution program are delivery of subsidies in the initial phase and timely technical assistance, ensuring that peasants can sell their licit products in the first few years—either by matching them with sellers or having the government buy the produce.

However, making the PNIS a component of a broader approach that includes institutional and rural development, as discussed above, is critical. It is also crucial to take into account that broken government promises do not only undermine current efforts to reduce coca cultivation but also create a negative precedent and sow distrust between the communities and the state, compromising the

possibility of future programs. The United States should support Colombia in its efforts to help families who uprooted their coca plants and are undertaking the transition to legality within a broader, integral policy of rural development.

Another critical barrier to rural development and rule of law consolidation in areas beyond the government's reach is the capacity of local bureaucrats. Local authorities in these territories usually lack the tools to transform the conditions that breed informality and illegality and part of the problem is the training of local bureaucrats. There is a wide gap in the skills of local public servants in municipalities affected by violence as compared to the rest of the country, given that trained public officials have little to no incentive to serve in rural areas. Expected salaries and security guarantees for public officials in these territories are significantly lower than those received in larger cities. Deprived of skilled leaders, vulnerable municipalities can hardly improve the quality of their governments—and weak local governments often lead to corruption and increases in illicit drug trade and organized criminal groups, which undermines US

national security interests.

The United States could promote programs to train highly talented local and nonlocal officials to serve in these municipal governments and offer them support while they are in office so that the characteristics of each locality are taken into account. These public servants could in turn train others and support them in their first years serving in vulnerable localities. Creating incentives for trained public servants to stay for long periods of time in vulnerable municipalities is crucial to sustainability.⁷⁸

By investing in human capital, this program can have long-lasting effects not only on the quality of local governance but also in bringing about broader societal change through leadership. The Postsecondary School of Public Administration (Escuela Superior de Administración Pública) is currently considering developing a program that would involve supporting public servants in critical territories in 2020. The United States can advance the transformation of local governments by supporting targeted programs like this one and investing in initiatives to educate and support a new generation of local leaders. Similar programs could be designed to train not only public officials but also doctors, educators, and professionals, and encouraging them to serve in rural areas and train local populations.

Where should these efforts be directed? Since transforming all needy areas in the country at the same time is not viable, it is imperative to focus on the most vulnerable territories. The 170 municipalities included in the *Programas de Desarrollo con* Enfoque Territorial (PDETs), or Development Programs with a Territorial Approach, have been most affected by violence in the past decades. With the demobilization of FARC, many areas previously under the group's control were left with a vacuum of power and this in turn has been progressively filled by criminal organizations.

In some of these territories, social leaders have been assassinated and coca cultivation and illegal mining have increased. In fact, the ten municipalities with 50 percent of the coca crops in Colombia are on this list of 170 municipalities. Of these, the PDETs of the Catatumbo region, Nariño's Pacific wetlands, Arauca, and Bajo Cauca Antioqueño areas also included in the strategic Future Zones of President Duque's plan—are critical as they concentrate a large portion of coca crops and exhibit some of the highest levels of violence in the country. Transforming the most vulnerable territories is the best way to overcome criminality, violence, and illicit economies while consolidating the rule of law, democracy, and development.

Improving the efficacy and legitimacy of state institutions in vulnerable territories and promoting rural development will benefit Colombia, the United States, and the binational partnership. Colombia has the potential to improve the lives of citizens who have long lived in precarious conditions, while also undermining illicit armed organizations and illicit economies that harm the entire country. By reducing drug trafficking and weakening criminal groups, institutional growth and rural development will also favor US national security interests while also enabling Colombia to continue its leading role in security cooperation in the region.

US-COLOMBIA PRIORITIES MOVING FORWARD TERRITORIAL CONTROL AND RURAL DEVELOPMENT

COLOMBIA

- Adjust the PNIS to viably support all families that have signed and complied with the crop-substitution agreement. Possible adjustments include the delivery of subsidies in the initial phases of the program to ensure that farmers can pursue their licit productive project. In the initital years of production, the government should help peasants sell their licit products by connecting them with sellers or buying some of the production. Provision of technical assistance is also necessary.
- Create a database or program that Create a database or program that connects farmers interested in substituting coca crops with potential buyers. The current disconnect between potential suppliers of licit products with markets represents a major challenge to the cropsubstitution program.

UNITED STATES

 Support the commercialization and facilitate market access to legal products that have substituted coca crops. They can be promoted and marketed as a special type of fair trade good.

US-COLOMBIA PARTNERSHIP

- Invest in a long-term, multidimensional plan that includes security, justice, formalization of land property rights, education, public goods provision, and economic opportunities in ten priority areas to dismantle organized armed groups, eradicate rising coca crops, and fight drug trafficking. The ten priority municipalities identified by the Colombian government are included in the PDETs and are responsible for one-half of the entire national coca production.
- Promote programs to train local and nonlocal public officials to serve in rural areas, offering support while in office to guarantee that characteristics of each locality are taken into account. These public servants could in turn train others and provide support in their first years serving in vulnerable localities.
- Work to establish technology transfer and training programs, especially in the agricultural sector. For example, creating a "fellows" program to train Colombians on agricultural techniques for between six and twelve months in the United States under the condition that they return to Colombia to advise regional and local governments as well as farmers' organizations.
- Foster partnerships between the Colombian and US private sectors and nongovernmental organizations to implement market-driven rural development projects, in coordination with the Colombian government.
- Identify viable projects to combat illicit drug production in natural parks and lands owned by indigenous and Afro-Colombian communities. Projects in collectively owned lands must take into account the needs. preferences, and strengths of the communities that own
- Channel additional resources to funds created by multilateral agencies and Colombia to transform vulnerable territories, help them transition to licit economies, and consolidate peace.
- Conduct a rigorous assessment of all previous interventions in rural areas to determine how to best allocate development resources in the future.

INFRASTRUCTURE CONNECTIVITY

ural infrastructure is paramount to unleashing economic growth in rural areas, which is essential to decreasing coca cultivation, undermining other illicit economies, and weakening illegal armed groups while fostering legal economic activities. The United States needs rural Colombia to prosper in order to curb cocaine trafficking and undermine organized crime. However, Colombia has a severe lag in rural infrastructure. Public service delivery in the countryside is inadequate. Government statistics put electricity coverage at 80 percent of the nation, but aqueduct and sewage coverage trail at 20 percent and 6 percent, respectively. Moreover, 73 percent of rural areas in Colombia

are more than three hours away from department capital cities by road.⁷⁹ Of the 142,000 kilometers (km) of existing rural roads, close to 65 percent are in bad shape and only 6 percent are paved.80

This situation makes transport extremely costly both for individuals and for farmers seeking to get their agricultural products to markets. In addition, internet service barely reaches 10 percent in rural areas. Unsurprisingly, rural areas exhibit a poverty rate of 45 per-

cent, almost twice the national average.81 As part of the Rural Colombia program, President Duque allocated about \$150 million to the improvement and maintenance of tertiary roads in 2019. This is a step in the right direction. Colombia must do more to connect rural areas and to improve rural infrastructure in order to expand economic opportunities for farmers, particularly in places with high coca cultivation or illicit mining.

Recent public-private initiatives have worked to bring quality connectivity to rural areas in Colombia and encourage youth to stay in the countryside. Various projects, totaling \$25 million and led by the Colombian Coffee Growers Federation, have focused on improving tertiary roads in 10 of the departments most affected by conflict (Cauca, Caldas, Antioquia, Nariño, Valle del Cauca, Quindío, Cundinamarca, Huila, Risaralda and Santander).82 In another project, the Ministry of Information Technologies and other agencies, in association with Microsoft Corp., has allocated \$1 million to increase the internet connectivity of farmers in certain coffee regions.

The private sector may have proved more efficient in providing certain services than the government, but going forward, successful public-private partnerships need to clearly align social and individual interests, carefully assign the risk involved,

> and remain transparent throughout the project. These schemes provide valuable examples of future projects the United States can help to replicate to increase rural connectivity, and, by so doing, create obstacles to the expansion of illegal armed groups and the illicit economies from which they profit.

> To foster economic opportunities, create jobs, and guarantee the success of crop-substitution programs, rural areas must be accessible and connected to the rest of

the country. Roads, especially secondary and tertiary ones, need to be built. In the last few years, the country has launched ambitious programs to build and improve both primary and tertiary roads. The "fourth generation" of road concessions (4G), as it is known in Colombia, is a megaroad public-private partnership program with aggregate capital expenditures of \$15 billion83 that seeks to build and rehabilitate approximately 8,000 km of the nation's most important primary roads. Despite multiple challenges, the program is moving forward and the Duque administration plans to finalize eight highways and significantly advance twenty-one more

in the next four years.84

The United **States needs** rural Colombia to prosper in order to curb cocaine trafficking and undermine organized crime.



Locals carry coffee in Gaitania, Tolima, Colombia. Increasing rural connectivity is paramount to unleashing economic growth in rural areas of Colombia.

The United States could play a role in supporting the Duque administration's Rural Colombia program to advance secondary and tertiary roads,85 which make up about 70 percent of all roads in the country. The United States can facilitate the involvement, presence, and financing of the DFC, which consolidates the Development Credit Authority (DCA) of USAID and the Overseas Private Investment Corporation (OPIC) in this process. USAID funds also could focus on a few, large-scale projects with longterm impacts on stabilization areas rather than on several small projects in multiple areas of the country. Moreover, USAID can replicate successful projects involving local populations in the maintenance of tertiary roads, with the long-term goal of creating capacity for future infrastructure projects in the locality.86 The United States can also push for Colombia to be prioritized for a compact agreement with the Millennium Challenge Corporation, an independent US foreign assistance agency, to support the government's heavy financing burden. Connecting vulnerable communities to the rest of the country can only be accomplished, however, if Colombia finishes building its primary roads.

US-COLOMBIA PRIORITIES MOVING FORWARD INFRASTRUCTURE CONNECTIVITY

US-COLOMBIA PARTNERSHIP

- Replicate successful projects involving local populations in the building and maintenance of secondary and tertiary roads, with the long-term goal of creating capacity for future infrastructure projects in the locality. The partnership should further facilitate the involvement of DFC and USAID as a potential source of financing for these projects.
- Support public-private partnerships to increase connectivity in rural areas and create incentives for youth to remain in the countryside.



A soldier from the Seventh Division of the Colombian National Army looks on as a make-shift cocaine laboratory burns during an operation to eradicate coca plants in Yali, Antioquia, Colombia. Addressing the world drug problem requires tackling the issue at all stages of the production process.

STEPS TO ADDRESS THE WORLD DRUG PROBLEM

tween 2013 and 2017, coca crops in Colombia saw an exponential increase, rising from 80,500 hectares to 209,000 ha, according to the US Office of National Drug Control Policy (ONDCP). The United Nations Office of Drugs and Crime (UNODC) also reports a stark increase in coca crop cultivation, from 48,189 ha to 171,000 ha in that same time period. Between 2017 and 2018, after four years of continued increase, coca crop cultivation finally stabilized and slightly decreased, from 209,000 ha to 208,000 ha, according to ONDCP, and from 171,000 ha to 169,000 ha, according to UNODC. However, there is still much to be done.

The Colombian government's new drug policy, Ruta Futuro, which was mentioned earlier, is a holistic, multidimensional plan to combat drug challenges. Ruta Futuro focuses on five main pillars: reducing drug consumption; decreasing drug production; dismantling illegal organizations; attacking illicit economies and rents from organized crime; and transforming territories affected by illicit economies. The Colombian government is exploring multiple eradication tools, including returning to aerial spraying with glyphosate, a herbicide.

In 2015, Colombia's constitutional court prohibited aerial spraying with glyphosate due to potential health risks. The National Council on Narcotics (Consejo Nacional de Estupefacientes, CNE) endorsed the decision shortly afterwards. In 2017, the court issued a new sentence allowing the government to resume aerial spraying if several conditions were met, including providing "a scientific

Colombia should continue to lead the fight against coca cultivation and cocaine trafficking in the region by using a combination of the most cost-effective tools at its disposal, considering both material and social costs.

investigation that, in an objective and conclusive manner, demonstrates the absence of damage to health and the environment." The lack of such conclusive, undisputable evidence has prevented aerial spraying since 2015. For the past four years, the government has therefore utilized terrestrial eradication, both forceful and voluntary, as its main eradication strategy.

In July of this year, the Constitutional Court clarified its 2017 ruling stating that the government must corroborate that aerial spraying does not cause harm to public health or the environment but clarified that it does not have to demonstrate this with absolute and unquestionable certainty. It is now up to the CNE to evaluate existing evidence and make a decision. This means that President Duque might be able to resume aerial spraying with glyphosate. The Colombian government has stated that aerial fumigation will only be carried out when manual eradication is impossible and in cases where there is noncompliance with crop-substitution agreements.

Colombia should continue to lead the fight against coca cultivation and cocaine trafficking in the region by using a combination of the most cost-effective tools at its disposal, considering both material and social costs. Eradication works in the short run, but it fails as a long-term strategy unless it is articulated with other interventions that successfully transform local territories.87 Places where coca is eradicated can have coca crops growing

again if structural conditions do not change. At the same time, eradication can simply push crops to more remote and inaccessible areas—the so-called balloon effect—unless the conditions in those territories also change.

Colombia and the United States should therefore invest in long-term rural development as previously discussed. In addition, Colombia should continue to disrupt the necessary ingredients for the production of cocaine (gasoline, cement, arsenic and other chemicals), destroy laboratories, dismantle organized criminal groups, engage in interdiction activities, and combat money laundering. The United States should support Colombia not only in these activities but also in its efforts to modernize its ports and customs agencies to boost the country's capacity to control drug trafficking and money laundering.

The United States and Colombia have enjoyed a strong, constructive relationship between their law enforcement agencies in the ongoing battle against transnational crime and drug trafficking. An important element in that relationship has been cooperation on extradition where warranted. We urge the law enforcement agencies of both nations to continue using the effective protocols they have relied on for several years with resounding success.

Recognizing the importance of assessing what has worked and what has not, the US Congress in 2019 passed bipartisan legislation to create the Western Hemisphere Drug Policy Commission.88 This independent government commission will study the successes and mistakes of US drug policy in the Western hemisphere. Its conclusions will be highly important to the US-Colombia partnership, as it should guide US drug policies and influence roles in the fight against drugs in the region.

With coca cultivation, cocaine consumption, and transnational drug trafficking groups on the rise, the Americas must take stock of existing policies at each stage in the chain, from production and trafficking to money laundering. What has worked in the past to reduce coca cultivation? Which interventions have proved more effective in weakening drug trafficking criminal organizations? Some studies suggest that targeting coca crops is less effective than focusing on the processing and trafficking stages. Since the participation of the coca leaf in the value chain is rather small (about 9 percent), devoting more efforts to trafficking (which concentrates about 70 percent of the cocaine profit chain) can be more efficient.89 What is the estimated effect of a dollar spent on coca eradication vis-à-vis a dollar spent on interdiction? Is destroying labs an effective measure or are these easily and quickly rebuilt, as they are in Afghanistan?90 Is controlling precursor chemicals for cocaine production an effective strategy? What are the best barriers to money laundering? What are the most successful strategies to prevent drug use? Carefully considering the human and social cost of different interventions in all countries is also vital to devising effective solutions from a shared-responsibility perspective.

The United States and Colombia should also work together on the development of new technologies for decreasing coca crops as well as cocaine trafficking. Creating an innovation lab or hosting a formal call for proposals on innovative ways to reduce coca cultivation and cocaine trafficking could facilitate this process. Initiatives to devise new policies to curb trafficking of opioids⁹¹ could serve as a model for fostering innovation in drug policy in countries where cocaine is produced or trafficked. The countries involved in the production, trafficking, and consumption of illicit drugs in the region should also come together to look at the available evidence and apply lessons learned about counternarcotics policy design and implementation.

As more countries in Latin America become part of trafficking routes—the list now includes, for example, Costa Rica⁹²—the region also needs to strengthen its coordination mechanisms. There are now more routes from South America to the United States through the Pacific Ocean than through the Caribbean, 93 and Venezuela is playing an increasingly important role in the drug trade.⁹⁴ At the same time, trafficking from South America to Europe and Asia through Western Africa has been on the rise for years. 95 Today, for every ton of cocaine the United States seized at its border with Mexico, Colombia seizes eighteen at its different borders.⁹⁶

The United States can enhance its surveillance capacity in the Pacific Ocean and the Caribbean through the existing maritime interdiction treaty including by increasing the presence of its vessels and patrol. Strengthening regional coordination mechanisms for interdiction such as the Joint Interagency Task Force (JIATF) South and the Colombia International Maritime Center Against Narcotrafficking (CIMCON) could facilitate cooperation and increase efficacy. The United States should work with Colombia to strengthen its riverine and radar capabilities, surveillance, mobility, and interdiction assets such as helicopters and fast boats. The Colombian government could also create an agency that coordinates all efforts to fight drug trafficking with the support of ONDCP.

Involved countries should also discuss the indicators they rely on to measure success. While shortterm goals are important, the region must consider policies that produce sustainable results. Since policies should change the structural conditions that facilitate the cultivation of illicit crops and trafficking of illicit substances, indicators of success should also include these outcomes. The efforts made by every country involved should also be measured and considered. The United States contributes to the fight against drugs with human capital, technological transfer, intelligence, military cooperation, and financial resources. Colombia contributes 80

US-COLOMBIA PRIORITIES MOVING FORWARD STEPS TO ADDRESS THE WORLD DRUG PROBLEM COLOMBIA

COLOMBIA

- Cut coca cultivation and production in half by 2023 using a combination of the most costeffective tools at its disposal.
- The Colombian government, with the support of ONDCP, should also create an agency that coordinates all efforts to fight drug trafficking in the country.

UNITED STATES

 Increase financial and technical support, military cooperation, and intelligence assistance to combat the world drug problem. For example, the United States can increase the presence of its vessels and patrol in the Pacific Ocean and the Caribbean.

US-COLOMBIA PARTNERSHIP

- Create an innovation lab or host a formal call for proposals on innovative ways to reduce coca crops and cocaine trafficking.
- Strengthen regional coordination mechanisms for interdiction such as the Joint Interagency Task Force (JIATF) South and the Colombia International Maritime Center Against Narcotrafficking (CIMCON) to double down on the fight against drugs.
- Collaborate to strengthen Colombia's riverine and radar capabilities, surveillance, mobility, and interdiction assets such as helicopters and fast boats.
- Countries involved in the production, trafficking, and consumption of illicit drugs in the region should come together to look at the available evidence and apply lessons learned about counternarcotics policy design and implementation, and devise stronger and more holistic measures of success.
- Work to modernize Colombia's ports and customs agencies to boost the country's capacity to fight drug trafficking and money laundering.
- Implement programs to prevent and reduce consumption among youth in Colombia and the United States and encourage other consuming countries to devise national plans for this same purpose.

percent of the monetary resources for the fight against drugs within and at its borders, with 20 percent coming through international cooperation. Colombia also contributes its institutional capacity and, crucially, risks the lives of military and police personnel as well as civilians. In the past nine years, more than 600 Colombians were wounded and 126 were killed in eradication operations,⁹⁷ and hundreds of thousands have been killed in the different cycles of violence linked to drug trafficking that the country has endured in the past four decades.98 Having clear estimates of these efforts is important as the region discusses options and shared responsibilities.

Finally, as levels of cocaine consumption remain high in the United States and are increasing both in Central and South America, the United States and Colombia should implement domestic programs to prevent and reduce consumption among youth. The US-Colombia partnership should also encourage other consuming countries to devise national plans to prevent and reduce consumption..

SOCIAL LEADERS AND HUMAN RIGHTS DEFENDERS

Ithough overall levels of violence have decreased in Colombia in recent years, 99 a new wave of violence against human rights defenders, community leaders, and social activists is spreading across several regions in the country. The targeting of social leaders started to escalate in 2016 and surged in 2018 and the first semester of 2019. Although estimates of the total number of murders vary across sources, Colombia's Ombudsman's Office reports 317 victims from January 2016 to April 2019,100 most of whom were peasants, Afro-Colombians, or indigenous persons. The United States has a firm commitment to the defense of human rights. As a major partner of Colombia, it is deeply concerned about these crimes and willing to support Colombia in its efforts to find a solution.

In early 2019, Colombia's Office of the Attorney General characterized the killing of social leaders as systematic acts, which are usually perpetrated by organized criminal groups. About 14 percent of these assassinations were reported in areas with coca crops. The attacks seem to be related to vendettas and competition between different criminal groups¹⁰¹ as well as conflicts over land, and illicit economies such as drug trafficking, coca cultivation, and illegal mining.¹⁰² Some of the victims were leaders who opposed coca cultivation or who had joined crop-substitution programs. Emilio Archila, Colombia's High Commissioner of Peace, cited in July 2019 that 58 leaders of the PNIS program have been assassinated since the signing of the Peace Agreement in 2016.103

President Duque developed and is currently implementing a new plan to protect human rights defenders, titled Timely Action Plan on Prevention and Protection for Human Rights Defenders, Social Leaders, and Journalists (Plan de Acción Oportuna de Prevención y Protección para los Defensores de Derechos Humanos, Líderes Sociales y Comunales, or PAO). This plan is built on three strategic pillars. The first pillar, articulation and institutional re-engineering, aims to articulate the work of multiple agencies and norms. The second pillar, strategic action in the territory, focuses on municipalities that have widespread criminal activities and inadequate institutional responses to their needs. Finally, the third pillar, communication strategy and training, entails implementing a campaign to counteract the stigmatization of the status of "social leader" as well as to publicize existing protection and self-protection programs. The Colombian government should work with national and international civil society organizations that have been monitoring the situation of social leaders and human rights defenders in Colombia to develop a progress report for the PAO. This report should include an evaluation of progress as well as clear follow-up mechanisms.

This new wave of violence has not only appalled Colombians, it has also sparked concern among US legislators¹⁰⁴ and the international community more broadly.¹⁰⁵ The assassination of social leaders is not only a human rights violation, it is also a stab to democratic representation, civil society, rural development, and peace. A threat to democracy and security in Colombia is a threat to US interests in the region as it undermines stability, decreases Colombia's capacity to continue its role in addressing the crisis in Venezuela, and undermines its potential security cooperation with the region. The United States should support Colombia's efforts to protect social leaders and end impunity by continuing to support the Attorney General's Office in cases of human rights abuses. Moreover, it could assist with intelligence to help prevent these killings and offer financial assistance to President Duque's Timely Action Plan on Prevention and Protection.

US-COLOMBIA PRIORITIES MOVING FORWARD PROTECTING SOCIAL LEADERS AND HUMAN RIGHTS DEFENDERS

COLOMBIA

- Implement fully the Timely Action Plan on Prevention and Protection for Human Rights Defenders, Social Leaders, and Journalists (PAO).
- Develop a progress report for the PAO with clear follow-up mechanisms. Civil society organizations should play a role in this process.

UNITED STATES

 Continue supporting the Attorney General's Office in cases of human rights abuses and provide intelligence assistance to help prevent crimes against social leaders and human rights defenders. The United States can also provide financial support to President Duque's Timely Action Plan on Prevention and Protection.



Recognizing Colombia's Leadership in the Context of the Venezuelan **Regional Crisis**

he Venezuelan crisis has generated the largest migration mobilization or mass migration in the history of Latin America. Over four million people have fled Venezuela between 2015 and June 2019.106 This number is growing exponentially as conditions continue to deteriorate in Venezuela. From February 2019 to June 2019, the number of migrants increased by 17.6 percent to four million from 3.4 million. Estimates show that by the end of 2019, 5.3 million Venezuelans will have fled the country—a 32.5 percentage increase in only six months.¹⁰⁷ By 2020, the total number of Venezuelan migrants and refugees could reach between 7.5 million and 8.2 million.¹⁰⁸ This means that the Venezuelan exodus will surpass the Syrian refugee crisis, which displaced 6.3 million people between 2011 and 2017. If unmanaged, the mass migration of Venezuelans can destabilize the entire Western Hemisphere.

Colombia is the largest recipient of Venezuelan migrants, having received more than 1.4 million migrants as of June 2019.109 Almost 64 percent of Venezuelans in Colombia are concentrated in five departments: Bogotá, Capital District (315,528 migrants, 22.3 percent of the total); Norte de Santander (185,433, 13.2 percent); La Guajira (163,966, 11.6 percent); Atlántico (125,075, 8.9 percent); and Antioquia (112,745, 8 percent).¹¹⁰ These numbers will continue to rise as migration flows intensify in the coming months and years. By 2021, Colombian authorities expect the number of Venezuelan migrants in Colombia to reach four million, which would represent about 7.7 percent of the population.¹¹¹

Unless the conditions pushing people to flee

Venezuela (namely, the current political and economic crisis) change, the massive influx of Venezuelans will reach unprecedented proportions and host countries will be increasingly strained to address the needs of migrants and refugees. The foreign minister of Colombia, Carlos Holmes Trujillo, has already said that Colombia can no longer deal with the Venezuelan influx if the amount of international funding does not increase.

Colombia should be showcased as a global model of solidarity and commitment to helping a neighbor in crisis.

Colombia has demonstrated tremendous generosity and has taken extraordinary measures to address the basic needs of incoming Venezuelans. With its "open door" policy, Colombia's government is recognizing that both countries' histories and destinies are irrevocably intertwined. When Colombia's conflict reached a newfound intensity in the 1960s, 1970s, and 1980s, Colombians migrated to neighboring Venezuela looking to improve their economic and security situation. According to Marco Romero Silva, director at the Consultancy for Human Rights and Displacement (CODHES), millions of Colombians are believed to have fled to Venezuela, but specific statistics are unknown due to irregular migrant flows.¹¹² This reveals the regional spillover effect of instability, democratic breakdown, increased violence, or economic stagnation in one country.

The Colombian government has adopted a policy of complete solidarity toward Venezuelan migrants, 113 implementing a series of measures to assist them. A special focus has been given to migrants in border municipalities (Cúcuta, Maicao, Arauca and Puerto Carreño) and major cities (Bogotá, Medellín, Bucaramanga, among others) where the situation is most critical. Between 2017 and 2019, 273,000 Venezuelans were treated in the Colombian health system, 156,000 Venezuelan children and youth were enrolled in publicly funded

> schools, and 62,000 Venezuelans had access to public protection programs and child and family welfare services.114 The Duque administration has also made a commendable effort to regularize the legal status of Venezuelan migrants and integrate them into the labor force, offering a temporary protected status (the PEP, or Permiso Especial de Permanencia) to almost 600,000 migrants, which gives them access to legal employment, healthcare, and edu-

cation.¹¹⁵ Recently, the government granted nationality to 24,000 children born to Venezuelan parents in Colombian territory. Previously, these children were in a condition of statelessness—neither Colombia nor Venezuela recognized them as nationals.

The Colombian government is launching other policies and initiatives to facilitate the integration of Venezuelans into Colombia's society and economy. Colombia should be showcased as a global model of solidarity and commitment to helping a neighbor in crisis. The leadership that the country has demonstrated is admirable and should be further backed by the international community in diplomatic, technical, and financial support—to achieve a peaceful democratic transition in Vene-



Venezuelans stand at the Rumichaca border bridge while trying to cross into Ecuador from Colombia, after new visa restrictions from the Ecuadorian government took effect in August 2019.

zuela and put an end to this regional migratory and humanitarian crisis. Continued engagement with the Lima Group regional bloc, of which Colombia is a member, will be critical in this quest.

Naturally, the Venezuelan migration crisis is placing significant strains on Colombia's economy as well as its healthcare and education systems. A 2018 country report by the World Bank estimates that Colombia's fiscal costs associated with the influx of Venezuelans are approximately 0.4 percent of GDP in 2019.¹¹⁶ Fiscal costs will peak in 2020 as a result of Colombia's efforts to provide migrants and refugees with access to quality healthcare, education, housing, and other basic needs. These costs represent a major economic strain for a country working to implement a peace agreement and seeking to secure institutional control of all its territory. The United States and Colombia should create a task force of experts to calculate the exact fiscal impact and funding that Colombia will require to successfully absorb the growing number of Vene-

zuelan migrants and refugees. This is a necessary step to developing a sound response strategy to the situation in the short, medium, and long term.

At the same time, Colombia has almost eight million internally displaced people, and, despite the peace accord with the FARC, violence and criminality continue to strike a large portion of its territory. That peace deal is further threatened by the Maduro regime, which has welcomed with open arms Jesús Santrich and Iván Marquez, former senior FARC leaders. Venezuelan territory is now used as a launching point and safe haven for criminal organizations to mount attacks inside Colombia. These security concerns reinforce the need for appropriate funding for Colombia in the midst of a wave of migrants and refugees.

In late 2018, the United Nations High Commissioner for Refugees and the International Organization for Migration announced the Regional Refugee and Migrant Response Plan (RRM Response Plan) and asked for \$738 million in funding to assist

Although critical, current international aid to Colombia is insufficient given the prolonged nature of the crisis and the growing number of migrants and refugees crossing the border.

2.7 million Venezuelan migrants in Latin America between January and December 2019.¹¹⁷ However, by July 2019, only 23.7 percent of this request had been fulfilled.¹¹⁸ Considering that USAID estimates migrants and refugees to reach 5.3 million by the end of 2019, this level of funding, even if fully met, is largely insufficient. The United States and Colombia should call on the international donor community to fully fund the UN's funding request.

For Colombia specifically, the RRM Response Plan allocates \$315.5 million in funding, of which only about 30 percent has been fulfilled. This response plan estimates that around 1.1 million refugees and migrants will need assistance in Colombia in 2019. These estimates are much lower than USAID's calculations, which show a total of 1.9 million people in Colombia in need of assistance as a result of the Venezuela regional crisis.¹¹⁹ Total US government funding to Colombia for the Venezuela regional response in FY 2018 and FY 2019 amounts to \$89.9 million.120

Although critical, current international aid to Colombia is insufficient given the prolonged nature of the crisis and the growing number of migrants and refugees crossing the border. According to Colombian Foreign Minister Trujillo, Colombia has received international funds that equate to approximately \$68 per migrant, significantly lower than the \$500 to \$900 donated per person for migrants and refugees from Syria, South Sudan, and Myanmar.¹²¹ The international community should increase its financial, diplomatic, and technical support to Colombia as it plays a leadership role in responding to the Venezuela situation.

Specifically, the United States can support Co-

lombia's efforts by enhancing the country's technology to gather and process data on Venezuelans crossing the border. This assistance will not only enhance security but also facilitate the integration process of migrants and refugees into the Colombian economy and society. Technology assistance should be accompanied by training to local authorities on how to design and implement effective systems for migration and integration.

The US-Colombia partnership should also combat disinformation around the Venezuela regional crisis, manage public misconceptions about migrants, and prevent the rise of xenophobia and discrimination. Xenophobic sentiments and attitudes toward migrants are driven by the misconception that migrants pose security threats, drain national resources, and take away jobs from local workers. However, studies specific to Colombia show that crime does not increase in areas with a higher number of Venezuelan migrants, 122 and migration can have positive effects on the national economy of host countries.

If properly integrated into the formal labor market, Venezuelan migrants can make many contributions to to the economy of recipient countries: filling formal sector labor shortages and expanding the labor supply; creating formal jobs through their own entrepreneurship; raising GDP with increased consumption of goods and services; and expanding government tax revenues.¹²³ The Colombian government, in partnership with civil society and private-sector companies, should conduct campaigns to inform the population about the Venezuela regional crisis, combat the narrative that migrants pose threats to national security, and explain the positive economic impacts of regularizing Venezuelan's migrant status and incorporating them into the labor force.

As a result of Venezuela's democratic breakdown and deteriorating security and economic conditions, the Colombia-Venezuela border has become a hub for criminal activities of all kinds, which provide a source of funding to the Maduro regime and threaten regional stability. Undermining these illegal activities will put new financial pressures on the Maduro regime and weaken its support. The US-Colombia partnership should devote further resources to combatting illegal activities and illicit armed groups in the border areas.

Venezuela also now serves as a key transit point for drug shipments coming from Colombia to the United States and Europe. As a result, several armed groups are competing for control of drug trafficking routes and other contraband flows, which inevitably generates increased levels of violence and leads to human rights violations. The National Liberation Army (known by its Spanish acronym, ELN), FARC dissidents, and the Popular Liberation Army (known by its Spanish acronym, EPL) have been the major actors controlling the smuggling and trafficking market in the Colombia-Venezuela border.¹²⁴ With the unfolding of the political, economic, and social crisis in Venezuela, other armed groups have emerged in the border region: criminal gangs such as "La Linea," Venezuelan paramilitaries known as "Colectivos," and Colombian drug-trafficking groups such as the "Rastrojos," the "Urabeños," and the "bandas criminales" or BACRIM. 125 In the past decade, the United States has also reported the involvement of Hezbollah, the armed wing of the Lebanese Shiite Muslim political party, with drug-trafficking activities in Venezuela.¹²⁶ In addition to the illicit trade of drugs along the border, armed groups are engaging in illegal mining, arms trafficking, contraband fuel and gold trade, human smuggling and trafficking, kidnapping, extortion, and money laundering. Oil and crude smuggled from Venezuela into Colombia alone have a value of between \$1.5 billion and \$3 billion per year.¹²⁷ The United States can contribute to border control by providing Colombia with better technology to monitor and secure the border including sensors and drones.

As the political and economic crisis in Venezuela worsens and migration flows intensify, Venezuelan migrants are increasingly at risk of being recruited by illicit armed groups. Vulnerable populations are the most susceptible to forceful or voluntary recruitment by criminal organizations. Venezuelan migrants and refugees, including children and teenagers, have already been recruited by the BACRIM,¹²⁸ the ELN, FARC dissidents, and the EPL¹²⁹ as combatants, smugglers, informants, or hitmen. Additionally, a vast number of Venezuelan migrants, especially women and children, are falling prey to gross transitional crimes and human rights violations, including extortion, rape, human smuggling, and human trafficking. The United States and Colombia have a vested interest in working together to prevent such recruitments. This collaboration should include intelligence sharing and working together to provide for development of Colombia's rural areas—the core of the peace accord—to counteract the conditions that breed the rise and expansion of criminal organizations.

The Venezuelan crisis has profound implications for the prospect of peace in Colombia, US national security interests, and regional stability. The United States and the international community should therefore increase their financial assistance to Colombia to support its efforts to absorb more than 1.4 million Venezuelans. Although responding to the immediate humanitarian needs of Venezuelans is vital, future assistance should focus on their medium- and long-term integration into host countries.

Events inside Venezuela bear implications for the rest of Latin America, the United States, Europe, and beyond. Most timely for Colombia is receiving both the resources to manage the inflow of migrants and refugees and the assistance to combat criminal organizations that operate out of Venezuela and launch attacks in Colombian territory. A strong security component, in particular, is needed as the nonstate armed actors operating in Vene-

US-COLOMBIA PRIORITIES MOVING FORWARD THE VENEZUELAN REGIONAL CRISIS

COLOMBIA

- Continue to play a leadership role in the international arena to achieve a peaceful democratic transition in Venezuela. Do so specifically through continued engagement with the Lima Group regional bloc.
- Continue working to assist and integrate Venezuelan migrants and refugees crossing the border by regularizing the legal status and granting work permits
- Conduct campaigns to inform the population about the Venezuela regional crisis, combat xenophobic narratives and discrimination, and explain the positive economic impacts of integrating Venezuelan migrants into the Colombian economy and society.

UNITED STATES

- Increase its financial, diplomatic, and technical support to Colombia as it plays a leadership role in responding to the Venezuela situation. Examples of technology assistance include:
 - Enhancing Colombia's existing capacity to gather and process data on Venezuelan migrants crossing the border. This will not only help manage security threats but also facilitate the social and economic integration of Venezuelan migrants.
 - Contribute to border control by working with Colombia to deploy sensors, drones, and other monitoring technologies in the Colombia-Venezuela border area.

US-COLOMBIA PARTNERSHIP

- Ask the international donor community to fully fund the \$738 million requested by the UN to help Colombia respond to the Venezuelan migration crisis.
- Create a Task Force on stabilization of territories and transitions to democracy and include international experts who can provide intelligence cooperation to the Venezuelan interim government and advice on how to promote rule of law and strengthen national institutions.
- Create a Task Force of experts to calculate the exact fiscal impact on and funding needed by Colombia to absorb the growing number of Venezuelan migrants and refugees.

zuela and along its borders pose significant challenges to Venezuela's stabilization and return to democracy. These groups already threaten peace and security in Colombia.

At the same time, Colombia, given its experience with nonstate armed groups, should work closely with the Venezuelan interim government to implement and enhance the security components of the National Assembly's Plan País stabilization and reconstruction plan. The US-Colombia partnership can further support the interim government's democratic restoration plans by creating a task force with international experts on stabilization of terri-

tories and the transition to democracy. Task force members with security expertise could provide intelligence cooperation to the Venezuelan interim government, as well as advice on how to promote rule of law and strengthen national institutions.

Given the fragility of political transitions, Colombia and the United States should assist Venezuela to peacefully restore democracy. To do so, the United States should work with Colombia to strengthen Colombia's internal institutions and devise a tenyear national plan to better support the interim government in the reconstruction of Venezuela..

The Takeaways

or decades, the strategic alliance between Colombia and the United States has focused on, and succeeded in, safeguarding both nations' most pressing security interests. Today, with Colombia's improved security situation, strengthened economy, and increased regional leadership, the bilateral relationship is expanding to also include mutually beneficial and deepened economic and diplomatic interactions.

A strengthened and modernized US-Colombia partnership involves deepening bilateral trade and investment, promoting rural development in Colombia, cooperating to find a solution to the world drug problem, and finding a peaceful solution to the Venezuela regional crisis. Solidifying the strategic partnership along these pillars will allow Colombia and the United States to advance their national security and economic and geopolitical interests, while also promoting regional stability and strengthening democratic institutions throughout the Western Hemisphere. In this report, the Atlantic Council's US-Colombia Task Force developed a roadmap for action that provides targeted, fresh ideas on how to strengthen bilateral cooperation in these areas.

The multisectoral, nonpartisan, bicameral, and binational nature of the task force has enabled it to

devise concrete and actionable recommendations that provide the Duque administration, the Trump administration, and the US Congress with a comprehensive and multifaced strategy. If embraced, Colombia will move forward in its path toward peace and prosperity, the United States will reap the security and economic benefits of its \$11 billion Plan Colombia investment, and the region will experience the stabilizing effect of a deepened and strategic US-Colombia alliance.

To succeed, a renewed US-Colombia partnership must be sustained, nonpartisan, and adequately resourced. Colombia still faces a number of challenges, intensified by the mass influx of Venezuelan migrants and refugees, and the United States stands in a unique position to help Colombia manage these challenges. In today's interconnected world, stability and prosperity in Colombia will directly benefit the United States. This is especially true given Colombia's leadership around the Venezuela regional crisis, its strategic cooperation with the United States on global security, and its privileged geopolitical position to manage extrahemispheric interventions in the region. Today more than ever, the United States should work with one of its strongest global allies to advance both nations' security, economic, and political interests.

TASK FORCE CO-CHAIRS AND MEMBERS

CO-CHAIRS

The Hon. Roy Blunt US Senator (R-MO)

The Hon. Ben Cardin US Senator (D-MD)

CONGRESSIONAL MEMBERS

The Hon. Bradley Byrne US Representative (R-AL)

The Hon. Ruben Gallego US Representative (D-AZ)

The Hon. Gregory Meeks
US Representative (D-NY)

The Hon. Francis Rooney US Representative (R-FL)

MEMBERS

Felipe Ardila

Principal

Tinello Capital

Cynthia J. Arnson

Director, Latin American Program

Woodrow Wilson International Center for Scholars

Ambassador Bernard Aronson

Former US Special Envoy for the Colombian Peace Process (2015) and former Assistant Secretary of State for Inter-American Affairs (1989-1993), US Department of State;

Founder and Managing Partner, ACON Investments

The Honorable Rand Beers

Former Acting Secretary of Homeland Security (2013) US Department of Homeland Security

Ambassador William Brownfield

Assistant Secretary of State for International Narcotics and Law Enforcement Affairs, US Department of State;

Former US Ambassador to Colombia (2007-2010); Former US Ambassador to Venezuela (2004 -2007)

Andrés Cadena

Senior Partner McKinsey & Company

Rosario Córdoba

President

Consejo Privado de Competitividad

Stephen Donehoo

Managing Partner

McLarty Associates

Catalina Escobar Restrepo

Founder and President

Fundación Juanfe

Daniel W. Fisk

Former US Special Assistant to the President and Senior Director for Western Hemisphere Affairs, National Security Council (2005-2009);

Chief Operations Officer, International Republican Institute

Ambassador Robert Gelbard

Former US Assistant Secretary of State, International Narcotics and Law Enforcement Affairs (1993-1997); Principal Deputy Assistant Secretary of State, Inter-American Affairs (1991-1993); Deputy Assistant Secretary, South American Affairs (1985-1988)

The Honorable Maria Claudia Lacouture

Former Minister of Commerce, Industry, and Tourism (2016-2017)

Republic of Colombia

María Victoria Llorente

Executive Director

Fundación Ideas para la Paz

Thomas F. "Mack" McLarty, III

Former White House Chief of Staff (1993-1994); Co-Founder and Chairman, McLarty Associates

Bruce Mac Master

President

Asociación Nacional de Empresarios de Colombia (ANDI)

Luis Fernando Meiía

Executive Director

Fedesarrollo

Alejandro Mesa

Partner

Baker McKenzie

Ambassador Roger F. Noriega

Former US Assistant Secretary of State for the Western Hemisphere (2003-2005);

Visiting Fellow, American Enterprise Institute

Juan Estebán Orduz

President

Colombian Coffee Federation, North America Subsidiary of the National Federation of Coffee Growers of Colombia (FNC)

Missy Owens

Director, Government Relations, Federal and Diplomatic

Coca-Cola Company

Ambassador Juan Carlos Pinzón

Former Ambassador to the United States (2015-2017), Republic of Colombia; Former Minister of Defense of Colombia (2011-2015);

President, Fundación para el Progreso de la Región Capital (ProBogotá)

Alejandro Santo Domingo

President

Grupo Santo Domingo

Michael Shifter

President

The Inter-American Dialogue

Ambassador Arturo Valenzuela

Former US Assistant Secretary of State for the Western Hemisphere (2009-2011);

Senior Latin America Advisor, Covington & Burling

Jorge Mario Velásquez

Chief Executive Officer Grupo Argos SA

Simmonetta Verdi

Director, Government and Community Relations Ford Motor Company

DISCLAIMER: Task force members endorsed the report in their individual capacity and not that of the institutions they are affiliated with.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We would like to thank Adrienne Arsht for her generous support, without which the work of this task force would not have been possible.

A special thanks to everyone who helped create this task force and who provided support and insight over the last year. First and foremost, thank you to Senator Roy Blunt (R-MO) and Senator Ben Cardin (D-MD) for their leadership as co-chairs of this task force. It was a true pleasure and honor to work with them and to see how successful bipartisan efforts come to fruition. In addition, we are deeply grateful to Congressmen Bradley Byrne (R-AL), Ruben Gallego (D-AZ), Gregory Meeks, (D-NY), and Francis Rooney (R-FL) for their commitment to strengthening US-Colombia relations. Thank you to Daniel Burgess, Katherine Close, Daniel Friedman, Joe Bartlett, Miriam Fry, Robert Ikoku, and Sophia Lafargue for facilitating the unwavering cooperation of our co-chairs and House members.

Our gratitude goes out to the Adrienne Arsht Latin America Center team, under the leadership of Jason Marczak and Paula García Tufró, who worked tirelessly to convene the task force and whose passion for a prosperous US-Colombia strategic partnership is reflected in the pages of this report. Camila Hernandez, program assistant, was an instrumental force behind this project from start to finish. She played a key role in steering the vision of the task force, drafting the report, and coordinating the multiple task force meetings and communications. Katherine Pereira, assistant director until April 2017, provided invaluable research and logistical support. We thank Roberta Braga for her guidance and support throughout the production process. We also thank Andrea Trujillo, who joined the Center as a consultant in May, and provided crucial expertise, important feedback, and logistical support.

For decisive input, thorough research, and the original drafting of this report we thank Ana Arjona. For his valuable input and ideas, we thank Steve Hege. For her precise editorial assistance and goodspirited flexibility, we thank Susan J. Cavan, Atlantic Council editor. We would also like to extend our thanks to Donald Partyka and Nikita Kataev for their exceptional design of yet another Adrienne Arsht Latin America Center report.

Most importantly, we thank our task force members for their passion, commitment, expertise, and leadership. Their unwavering commitment to strengthening the US-Colombia partnership and their many ideas helped to guide the work of the task force.

ENDNOTES

- 1 Embassy of Colombia, "Colombia and the United States: A Successful Trade Alliance," https://www. colombiaemb.org/TradeAlliance.
- 2 "Venezolanos en Colombia," Ministerio de Relaciones Exteriores - Gobierno de Colombia, August 1, 2019, http://migracioncolombia.gov.co/index.php/es/ prensa/infografias/ infografias-2019/12565-infografia-venezolanos-encolombia.
- 3 El Consejo Nacional de Política Económica y Social (CONPES), "Estrategia Para La Atención de la Migración desde Venezuela," November 23, 2018, https://colaboracion.dnp.gov.co/CDT/Conpes/ Económicos/3950.pdf.
- 4 The World Bank, "US\$31.5 Million to Help Improve Services for Migrants from Venezuela and Host Communities in Colombia," April 12, 2019, https:// www.worldbank.org/en/news/pressrelease/2019/04/12/ us315-million-to-help-improve-services-for-migrantsfrom-venezuela-and-host-communities-in-colombia.
- 5 "ELN in Venezuela," InSight Crime, March 11, 2019, https://www.insightcrime.org/venezuela-organizedcrime-news/eln-in-venezuela/.
- 6 Congressional Research Service, "Colombia: Background and U.S. Relations," February 8, 2019, https://fas.org/sgp/crs/row/R43813.pdf.
- 7 Dirección de Justicia, Seguridad y Gobierno (DJSG) and Dirección de Seguimiento y Evaluación de Políticas Públicas (DSEPP), "Plan Colombia: Balance de los 15 años," Departamento Nacional de Planeación Government of Colombia, 2016, https://sinergia.dnp.gov.co/Documentospercent2Odepercent2OInteres/PLAN_COLOMBIA_Boletin_180216.pdf.
- 8 United Nations Office on Drugs and Crime (UNODC), "Colombia - Monitoreo de territorios afectados por cultivos ilícitos 2016," July 2017, https://www.unodc. org/documents/colombia/2017/julio/CENSO_2017_ WEB_baja.pdf.
- 9 Juan Carlos Garzón Vergara, Juan David Gelvez F., and Ángela María Silva Aparicio, "Los costos humanos de la erradicación forzada ¿es el glifosato la solución?," Fundación Ideas Para la Paz, March 7, 2019, http://www.ideaspaz.org/publications/ posts/1734.
- 10 Red Nacional de Información, "Inicio," Unidad Victimas - Government of Colombia, August 1, 2019, https://cifras.unidadvictimas.gov.co/.
- "Homicidios en Colombia: La tasa más baja en los últimos 42 años se dio en 2017," El Espectador,

- January 21, 2018, https://www.elespectador.com/noticias/judicial/homicidios-en-colombia-la-tasa-mas-baja-en-los-ultimos-42-anos-se-dio-en-2017-articulo-734526.
- 12 United Nations Security Council, "Security Council Press Statement on Colombia," July 23, 2019, https:// www.un.org/press/en/2019/sc13896.doc.htm.
- 13 United Nations Security Council, "Security Council Press Statement on Colombia."
- 14 El Tiempo, "Estos son los grupos armados que azotan a varios departamentos," July 23, 2019, https://www.eltiempo.com/colombia/otrasciudades/ regiones-del-pais-afectadas-por-grupos-armadosen-colombia-391642.
- 15 Red Nacional de Información, "Desplazamiento Personas: Registro Unico de Victimas," Unidad Victimas Government of Colombia, August 1, 2019, https://cifras.unidadvictimas.gov.co/Home/ Desplazamiento.
- José David Rodríguez Gómez, "Más de 317 líderes sociales han sido asesinados en el último año: Medicina Legal," RCN Radio, May 15, 2019, https:// www.rcnradio.com/colombia/ mas-de-317-lideres-sociales-han-sido-asesinados-enel-ultimo-ano-medicina-legal.
- 17 Atlantic Council, "A Roadmap for US Engagement with Colombia," May 2017, https://www.atlanticcouncil.org/images/publications/A_Roadmap_for_US_Engagement_with_Colombia_web_0517.pdf.
- 18 Congressional Research Service, "The Cost of Iraq, Afghanistan, and Other Global War on Terror Operations Since 9/11" (2014), https://fas.org/sgp/ crs/natsec/RL33110.pdf.
- 19 Miguel Silva, "Path to Peace and Prosperity: The Colombian Miracle," Atlantic Council, 2015, http:// publications.atlanticcouncil.org/colombia-miracle/; United States Senate, "S.Res.368 - A resolution supporting efforts by the Government of Colombia to pursue peace and the end of the country's enduring internal armed conflict and recognizing United States support for Colombia at the 15th anniversary of Plan Colombia," 2016, https://www. congress.gov/bill/114th-congress/ senateresolution/368/text.
- 20 The White House, "Remarks by President Obama and President Santos of Colombia at Plan Colombia Reception," February 4, 2016, https:// obamawhitehouse.archives.gov/the-pressoffice/2016/02/05/

- remarks-president-obama-and-president-santoscolombia-plan-colombia; The White House, "Fact Sheet: Peace Colombia -- A New Era of Partnership between the United States and Colombia," February 4, 2016, https://obamawhitehouse.archives.gov/ the-press-office/2016/02/04/ fact-sheet-peace-colombia-new-era-partnershipbetween-united-states-and.
- The White House, "Fact Sheet: Peace Colombia -- A New Era of Partnership between the United States and Colombia.'
- Congressional Research Service, "Colombia: Background and U.S. Relations."
- Peter J. Meyer, and Edward Y. Gracia, "U.S. Foreign Assistance to Latin America and the Caribbean: FY2019 Appropriations," Congressional Research Service, March 1, 2019, https://fas.org/sgp/crs/row/ R45547.pdf.
- Congressional Budget Justification, "Department of State, Foreign Operations, And Related Programs: Fiscal Year 2020," May 22, 2019, https://www.state. gov/wp-content/uploads/2019/05/Supplementary-Tables-%E2%80%93-Foreign-Operations.pdf.
- Myriam Ortega, "Colombia Boosts Peace Missions Participation," Diálogo, February 12, 2018, https:// dialogo-americas.com/en/articles/ colombia-boosts-peace-missions-participation.
- Diego Felipe Vera, "Cooperación Internacional y Seguridad: el Caso Colombiano," in Memorias del Seminario Académico "Prospectivas en seguridad y defensa en Colombia," ed. Vera (Libros Escuela Superior de Guerra, 2018), 41-47, https:// esdeguelibros.edu.co/index.php/editorial/catalog/ download/28/24/404-1?inline=1.
- "Outcomes of Current U.S. Trade Agreements," US State Department, https://www.state.gov/tradeagreements/ outcomes-of-current-u-s-trade-agreements/.
- Departamento Administrativo Nacional de Estadística, "Censo Nacional de Población y Vivienda," Government of Colombia, 2018, https:// www.dane.gov.co/index.php/estadisticas-por-tema/ demografia-y-poblacion/censo-nacional-depoblacion-y-vivenda-2018; United States International Trade Commission, "Harmonized Tariff Schedule of the United States (2018), Basic Edition," 2018, https://hts.usitc.gov/view/list.
- Anabel González, "Latin America-China Trade and Investment Amid Global Tensions," The Atlantic Council, December 2018, https://www.atlanticcouncil. org/images/publications/Latin-America-China-Trade-and-Investment-Amid-Global-Tensions.pdf.

- 30 González, "Latin America-China Trade and Investment Amid Global Tensions."
- 31 World Integrated Trade Solutions (WITS), "Colombia Trade at a Glance: Most Recent Values," The World Bank, 2019, https://wits.worldbank.org/ countrysnapshot/en/COL.
- 32 "China moves into Latin America," The Economist, February 3rd, 2019, https://www.economist.com/ the-americas/2018/02/03/ china-moves-into-latin-america.
- Christian Camilo Vargas Isaza et al., "Tercerización e intermediación laboral: balance y retos," Asociación Nacional de Empresarios de Colombia (ANDI), June 2019, http://www.andi.com.co/Uploads/ Tercerizacio%CC%81n%20e%20 intermediacio%CC%81n%20laboral%20balance%20 y%20retos%20Colombia%20CESLA.pdf.
- 34 SelectUSA, "Foreign Direct Investment (FDI): Colombia," July 2019, https://www.selectusa.gov/ servlet/servlet. FileDownload?file=015t0000000LKM6.
- 35 Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development (OECD), "Details of Tax Revenue - Colombia," 2018, https://stats.oecd.org/Index. $aspx? Data Set Code = LAC_REVCOL.$
- The Colombian Government has established a progressive path to reduce corporate taxes from 33 % to 30 % over the next four years.
- Daniel Bunn, "Corporate Tax Rates Around the World, 2018," Tax Foundation, November 2017, 2018, https://taxfoundation.org/ corporate-tax-rates-around-world-2018/.
- Rafael De la Cruz, Leandro Gastón Andrián, and Mario Loterszpil, "Colombia: Toward a High-income Country with Social Mobility," Inter-American Development Bank, January 2016, https:// publications.iadb.org/en/ colombia-toward-high-income-country-socialmobility.
- De la Cruz, Andrián, and Loterszpil, "Colombia: Toward a High-income Country with Social Mobility."
- 40 Asociación Nacional de Instituciones Financieras (ANIF), "Reducción del efectivo y tamaño de la economía subterránea en Colombia," May 2017, http://www.anif.co/sites/default/files/ investigaciones/anif-asobancaria-efectivo0517.pdf.
- DANE, "Tercer Censo Nacional Agropecuario: Tomo 2 - Resultados," November 2016, https://www.dane. gov.co/files/images/foros/foro-de-entrega-deresultados-y-cierre-3-censo-nacional-agropecuario/ CNATomo2-Resultados.pdf.

- 42 Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development (OECD), "Estudios Económicos de la OCDE: Colombia," May 2017, http://www.oecd.org/ eco/surveys/Colombia-2017-OECD-economicsurvey-overview-spanish.pdf.
- 43 The World Bank, "Enterprise surveys: Colombia country profile 2010," in Enterprise surveys country profile, (Washington, DC: World Bank Group, 2010), http://espanol.enterprisesurveys.org/data/exploreeconomies/2010/colombia#informality.
- 44 Alexander Cotte Poveda et al., "Indicadores de Ciencia y Tecnología Colombia 2018," Observatorio Colombiano de Ciencia y Tecnología, April 2018, https://www.ocyt.org.co/proyectos-y-productos/ informe-anual-de-indicadores-de-ciencia-ytecnologia-2018/.
- 45 Ronald S. Jarmin in his 1999 study finds that firms that participated in manufacturing extension partnership (MEP) programs in the United States experienced between 3.4 and 16 percent higher labor productivity growth between 1987 and 1992 than nonparticipating firms. Ronald S. Jarmin, "Evaluating the Impact of Manufacturing Extension on Productivity Growth," Journal of Policy Analysis and Management 18, no.1 (1999), 99-119.
- 46 "El ranking mundial más grande según su dominio del inglés," EF, 2018, https://www.ef.com/wwes/epi/.
- 47 Semana, "Colombia y su preocupante nivel de inglés," April 10, 2017, https://www.semana.com/ educacion/articulo/ bilinguismo-nivel-de-ingles-en-colombia/542736.
- 48 "Colombia Purdue Partnership," Purdue University, https://www.purdue.edu/colombia/.
- 49 US Department of State, "2018 Fact Sheet: Colombia," in Open Doors. Report on International Educational Exchange, 2018, https://p.widencdn. net/19i6p4/Open-Doors-2018-Colombia.
- 50 US Department of State, "2018 Fact Sheet: Latin America & Caribbean," in Open Doors. Report on International Educational Exchange, 2018, https://p.widencdn.net/46tto7/
 Open-Doors-2018-Latin-America-and-Caribbean.
- 51 "Best Universities in Latin America 2019," Times Higher Education, June 18, 2019, https://www.timeshighereducation.com/student/best-universities/best-universities-latin-america.
- 52 Helen Murphy, and Luis Jaime Acosta, "Special Report: A fractured peace - violent rivals rush into FARC void in Colombia," Reuters, April 26, 2018, https://www.reuters.com/article/us-colombia-peacespecial-report/ special-report-a-fractured-peace-violent-rivals-rushinto-farc-void-in-colombia-idUSKBNIHX2BD.

- 53 Javier Jules, "Tras la caída de 'Guacho', autoridades analizan estrategias para enfrentar grupos armados," La FM RCN Radio, December 24, 2018, https://www.lafm.com.co/colombia/tras-la-caida-de-guacho-autoridades-analizan-las-estrategias-para-enfrentar-grupos-armados.
- 54 Caracol Radio, "Colombia sigue siendo el país con más número de desplazados internos con 7,4 millones: Acnur," June 19, 2016, https://caracol.com. co/radio/2017/06/19/nacional/1497887381_656795. html.
- 55 Santiago Torrado, "La violencia aumenta en varias regiones de Colombia, alerta Cruz Roja," El País, March 29, 2019, https://elpais.com/internacional/2019/03/28/colombia/1553795131_179462.html.
- 56 El Tiempo, "Van 114 desmovilizados de las Farc asesinados," May 15, 2019, https://www.eltiempo. com/justicia/investigacion/ desmovilizados-de-las-farc-asesinados-tras-elproceso-de-paz-361882.
- 57 UNODC, "¿Quiénes son las familias que viven en las zonas con cultivos de coca?: Caracterización de las familias beneficiarias del Programa Nacional Integral de Sustitución de Cultivos Ilícitos (PNIS)," August 2018, https://www.unodc.org/documents/colombia/2018/Agosto/Quienes_son_las_familias_que_viven_en_las_zonas_con cultivos de coca N.1.pdf.
- 58 Hernando Zuleta, "Coca, cocaína y narcotráfico," Universidad de los Andes, Facultad de Economía, Documentos CEDE no.42, June 2017, https:// economia.uniandes.edu.co/components/com_ booklibrary/ebooks/dcede2017-42.pdf.
- 59 UNODC, "¿Quiénes son las familias que viven en las zonas con cultivos de coca?"
- 60 UNODC, "¿Quiénes son las familias que viven en las zonas con cultivos de coca?"
- 61 UNODC, "¿Quiénes son las familias que viven en las zonas con cultivos de coca?"
- 62 UNODC, "Colombia Monitoreo de territorios afectados por cultivos ilícitos 2018," August 2019, https://www.unodc.org/documents/colombia/2019/ Agosto/Informe_de_Monitoreo_de_Territorios_ Afectador_por_Cultivos_llicitos_en_Colombia_2018_. pdf.
- 63 "Fondos de Cooperación," Agencia Presidencial de Cooperación Internacional de Colombia, https://www.apccolombia.gov.co/seccion/fondos-de-cooperacion.
- 64 Consejería Presidencial para las Comunicaciones, "Zonas futuro: Zonas Estratégicas de intervención Integral," accessed on September 5, 2019, https://

- id.presidencia.gov.co/Documents/190808-Infografia-Zonas-Futuro.pdf.
- 65 Presidencia de la República de Colombia, "Paz con legalidad," accessed on September 5, 2019, http:// www.posconflicto.gov.co/Documents/politicaestabilizacion-Paz-con-legalidad.pdf.
- 66 Gobierno de Colombia, "Política de defensa y seguridad PDS," January 2019, https://www. mindefensa.gov.co/irj/go/km/docs/Mindefensa/ Documentos/descargas/Prensa/Documentos/ politica defensa deguridad2019.pdf.
- 67 Minjusticia, "Ruta futuro: Política Integral para Enfrentar el problema de las drogas," December 2018, http://www.minjusticia.gov.co/Portals/0/ Documentos/RUTA_FUTURO_POLITICA_ INTEGRAL.pdf.
- 68 "Historias de Vida," Corporación Colombia Internacional, http://www.cci.org.co/ historias-de-vida/
- 69 Consejería Presidencial para la Estabilización y la Consolidación, "Fundación Buffet, Nespresso y Fedecafé en alianza para apoyar la sustitución de cultivos del Gobierno," Gobierno de Colombia, May 29, 2019, http://www.posconflicto.gov.co/salaprensa/noticias/2019/Paginas/cafe.aspx.
- 70 UNODC, "Colombia Monitoreo de territorios afectados por cultivos ilícitos 2018."
- Maria Alejandra Velez et al., "Is Collective Titling Enough to Protect Forests? Evidence from Afro-Descendant Communities in the Colombian Pacific Region," Universidad de los Andes, Facultad de Economía, Documentos CEDE no.2019-03, February 14, 2019, https://papers.ssrn.com/sol3/ papers.cfm?abstract_id=3334497.
- 72 Ana Arijona, "Institutions, Civilian Resistance, and Wartime Social Order: A Process driven Natural Experiment in the Colombian Civil War," Latin America Politics and Society 58-3 (2016), https:// onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/ abs/10.1111/j.1548-2456.2016.00320.x.
- María Alejandra Vélez, and Iván Lobo, "Challenges of Organised Community Resistance in the Context of Illicit Economies and Drug War Policies: Insights from Colombia," Journal of Illicit Economies and Development 1-1 (2019), 72-79, https://jied.lse.ac.uk/ articles/10.31389/jied.15/.
- 74 Maria Alejandra Velez et al., "Recomendaciones para el diseño e implementación de incentivos para la conservación en paisajes agricolas," Foro Nacional Ambiental, August 2017, http://www. foronacionalambiental.org.co/wp-content/ uploads/2011/09/CONSERVACION-EN-PAISAJES-AGRICOLAS-web.pdf.

- The World Bank, "Colombia's Multipurpose Registry Will Become a Reality with World Bank Support," March 14, 2019, https://www.worldbank.org/en/ news/press-release/2019/03/14/ colombias-multipurpose-registry-will-become-areality-with-world-bank-support.
- 76 Alicia Liliana Méndez, "Cuando comunidades erradican cultivos de coca, es menor la resiembra," El Tiempo, February 27, 2019, https://www.eltiempo. com/justicia/conflicto-y-narcotrafico/ resiembra-es-de-O-6-en-7-puntos-donde-seerradico-voluntariamente-331762.
- Juan Carlos Garzón, Juan David Gélvez, and José Luis Bernal, "¿En qué va la sustitución de cultivos ilícitos? Desafíos, dilemas actuales y la urgencia de un consenso," Fundación Ideas para la Paz, April 2019, http://ideaspaz.org/media/website/FIP_ sustitucion_VOL06.pdf.
- Building on successful examples in Colombia and abroad, Fundación Ideas para la Paz has proposed a program that entails selecting candidates with exceptional skills and training them to address the specific needs of identified municipalities where they will work for two to three years as coaches of public servants as well as participants in regular work processes and new initiatives. The program covers the expenses and honoraria of these professionals and offers them support throughout their tenure..
- Semana, "Mejores vías para el campo," October 4, 2018, https://www.semana.com/contenidoseditoriales/ infraestructura-la-transformacion-de-un-pais/ articulo/mejores-vias-para-el-campo/563113.
- Simón Gaviria Muñoz, "Política para la Gestión de la Red Terciaria: Prepuesto Informado por Resultados," PowerPoint Presentation, Deparamento Nacional de Planeación, accessed on September 5, 2019, https:// colaboracion.dnp.gov.co/CDT/Prensa/ Presentaciones/RED%20TERCIARIA%20CCI%20 -%20DNP.pdf.
- Gaviria Muñoz, "Política para la Gestión de la Red Terciaria"
- 82 "Federación Nacional de Cafeteros ejecutará obras en 10 departamentos," Federación de Cafeteros, February 2018, https://www.federaciondecafeteros. org/pergamino-fnc/index.php/comments/ federacion_nacional_de_cafeteros_ejecutara_obras_ en_10_departamentos/_
- Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development (OECD), "OECD Economic Surveys: Colombia 2017," May 25, 2017, https://www.oecd. org/countries/colombia/oecd-economic-surveyscolombia-2017-eco-surveys-col-2017-en.htm.

- 84 Juan Camilo Montoya E., "Concluir ocho autopistas 4G, meta del gobierno Duque," El Colombiano, May 27, 2019, https://www.elcolombiano.com/colombia/gobierno-duque-proyecta-concluir-ocho-autopistas-4g-DM10851750.
- 85 "Conectamos a la Colombia Rural," Gobierno de Colombia, https://colombiarural.invias.gov.co/.
- 86 Carlos Campos Cruz, and Management Systems International, "Modelo participativo de base comunitaria para la gestión de la red vial terciaria en Colombia," USAID/Colombia EVAL, October 28, 2016, https://pdf.usaid.gov/pdf_docs/PAOON1BD.pdf.
- 87 UNODC, "Colombia Monitoreo de territorios afectados por cultivos ilícitos 2018."
- 88 Committee on Foreign Affairs, "Engel Launds Launch of Western Hemisphere Drug Policy Commission," US House of Representatives, May 22, 2019, https://foreignaffairs.house.gov/2019/5/ engel-lauds-launch-of-western-hemisphere-drugpolicy-commission,
- 89 Zuleta, "Coca, cocaína y narcotráfico."
- 90 W. J. Hennigan, "The U.S. Sent Its Most Advanced Fighter Jets to Blow Up Cheap Opium Labs. Now It's Canceling the Program," Time, February 21, 2019, https://time.com/5534783/iron-tempest-afghanistan-opium/.
- 91 Department of Homeland Security, "8 Finalists Announced in \$1.55m Challenge for New Solutions to Detect Opioids in International Mail," June 11, 2019, https://www.dhs.gov/ news/2019/06/11/8-finalists-announced-155mchallenge-new-solutions-detect-opioidsinternational-mail
- 92 Douglas Marin, "Costa Rica Becomes Hub of Drug Cartels," Latin American Herald Tribune, accessed on September 5, 2019, http://laht.com/article. asp?ArticleId=349013&CategoryId=23558
- 93 Juan Diego Posada, "Traffickers are turning the Pacific Ocean into a drug-smuggling superhighway," Business Insider, March 7, 2019, https://www.businessinsider.com/traffickers-are-turning-the-pacific-into-a-drug-smuggling-superhighway-2019-3.
- 94 Nick Paton Walsh, Natalie Gallón and Diana Castrillon, "Corruption in Venezuela has created a cocaine superhighway to the US," CNN, April 17, 2019, https://www.cnn.com/2019/04/17/americas/venezuela-drug-cocaine-trafficking-intl/index.html.
- 95 Sean Duncan, "Narcotics trafficking through West African waters," Stable Seas, November 2, 2019, https://stableseas.org/illicit-trades/narcotics-trafficking-west-africa.
- 96 María Camila Roa, "Por cada tonelada de cocaína

- que decomisa EE.UU., Colombia incauta 18: Whitaker," BLU Radio, July 8, 2019, https://www. bluradio.com/nacion/ por-cada-tonelada-de-cocaina-que-decomisa-eeuucolombia-incauta-18-whitaker-219728-ie174
- 97 Garzón Vergara, Gelvez F., and Silva Aparicio, "Los costos humanos de la erradicación forzada ¿es el glifosato la solución?"
- 98 "Estadísticas del conflicto armado en Colombia," Centro Nacional de Memoria Histórica, accessed on September 5, 2019, http://www. centrodememoriahistorica.gov.co/micrositios/ informeGeneral/estadisticas.html.
- 99 El Colombiano, "Tasa de homicidios en Colombia en 2017 es la más baja en 30 años," December 26, 2017, https://www.elcolombiano.com/colombia/ tasa-de-homicidios-en-colombia-bajo-en-2017-GX7918080.
- 100 Rodríguez Gómez, "Más de 317 líderes sociales han sido asesinados en el último año: Medicina Legal."
- Mininterior, "Plan de acción oportuna de prevención y protección para los defensores de derechos humanos, líderes sociales, comunales y periodistas," accessed on September 5, 2019, https://www. mininterior.gov.co/sites/default/files/plan_de_ accion_oportuna_de_prevencion_y_proteccion_0. pdf
- 102 Mininterior, "Plan de acción oportuna de prevención y protección para los defensores de derechos humanos, líderes sociales, comunales y periodistas."
- 103 Redacción Colombia 2020, "Las medidas del Gobierno para proteger a líderes de sustitución de cultivos," El Espectador, July 16, 2019, https://www. elespectador.com/colombia2020/pais/ las-medidas-del-gobierno-para-proteger-lideres-desustitucion-de-cultivos-articulo-871222.
- 104 US Congress, Tom Lantos Human Rights
 Commission, Hearing on Peace and Victims' Rights
 in Colombia, 116th Cong. (2019), https://
 humanrightscommission.house.gov/events/
 hearings/peace-and-victims-rights-colombia.
- 105 Albiol Marina et al., "Letter to European Parliament's Hon. President Santos, Ministers, and Public Prosecutor's Office," March 16, 2018, http://www. omct.org/files/2018/03/24777/180316_letter_ european_parliament.pdf.
- 106 "Situación en Venezuela," United Nations High Commissioner for Refugees, accessed on September 5, 2019, https://www.acnur.org/situacion-envenezuela.html.
- 107 USAID, "Venezuela Regional Crisis," April 10, 2019, https://www.usaid.gov/sites/default/files/

- documents/1866/04.10.19_-_USG_Venezuela_ Regional_Crisis_Fact_Sheet_2.pdf.
- 108 OAS Working Group, "Preliminary Report on the Venezuelan Migrant and Refugee Crisis in the Region," Organization of American States, March 8, 2019, http://www.oas.org/documents/eng/press/ Preliminary-Report-2019-on-Venezuelan-Migrantand-Refugee-Crisis-in-the-Region.pdf.
- 109 "Venezolanos en Colombia."
- 110 "Venezolanos en Colombia."
- Julia Symmes Cobb, "Four million Venezuelans may live in Colombia by 2021: minister," Reuters, October 2, 2018, https://www.reuters.com/article/ us-venezuela-migration-colombia/ four-million-venezuelans-may-live-in-colombia-by-2021-minister-idUSKCN1MC2NZ.
- 112 Megan Janetsky, "Here's Why Colombia Opened Its Arms to Venezuelan Migrants—Until Now," Foreign Policy, January 14, 2019, https://foreignpolicy. com/2019/01/14/ heres-why-colombia-opened-its-arms-tovenezuelan-migrants-until-now/.
- 113 CONPES, ""Estrategia Para La Atención de la Migración desde Venezuela."
- Data provided by the office of Colombia's Venezuela Border Czar.
- 115 "Venezolanos en Colombia."
- 116 The World Bank, "US\$31.5 Million to Help Improve Services for Migrants from Venezuela and Host Communities in Colombia."
- "2019 Regional Refugee and Migrant Response Plan for Refugees and Migrants from Venezuela," United Nations High Commissioner for Refugees, accessed on September 5, 2019, http://reporting.unhcr.org/ node/21600? ga=2.263278924.1937849855.1566829714-1981709478.1566829714.
- 118 United Nations High Commissioner for Refugees, "Venezuela Situation," June 2019, http://reporting. unhcr.org/sites/default/files/UNHCR%20Update%20 on%20Venezuela%20Situation%20-%20June%20 2019.pdf
- 119 USAID, "Venezuela Regional Crisis."
- 120 USAID, "Venezuela Regional Crisis."
- 121 Al Jazeera, "Colombia: International aid for Venezuelan migrants is too low," August 20, 2019, https://www.aljazeera.com/ajimpact/colombiainternational-aid-venezuelanmigrants-190820210642930.html.
- 122 Fundación Ideas para la Paz, "Seguridad ciudadana y migración venezolana," January 27, 2019, http:// www.ideaspaz.org/publications/posts/1722.

- 123 Michael Clemens, Cindy Huang, and Jimmy Graham, "The Economic and Fiscal Effects of Granting Refugees Formal Labor Market Access," Center for Global Development, 2018, https://www.cgdev.org/ publication/ economic-and-fiscal-effects-granting-refugeesformal-labor-market-access-brief.
- 124 Venezuela Investigative Unit, "Shifting Criminal Dynamics Signal Violent Future for Colombia-Venezuela Border," InSight Crime, January 29, 2018, https://www.insightcrime.org/news/analysis/ shifting-criminal-dynamics-violence-colombiavenezuela-border/.
- 125 Venezuela Investigative Unit, "Colombia-Venezuela Border Reopens, But Hidden Trails Still Hotspots," InSight Crime, June 26, 2019, https://www. insightcrime.org/news/brief/ colombia-venezuela-border-reopens-but-hiddentrails-still-hotspots/.
- 126 Colin P. Clarke, "Hezbollah Is in Venezuela to Stay," Foreign Policy, February 9, 2019, https:// foreignpolicy.com/2019/02/09/ hezbollah-is-in-venezuela-to-stay/.
- 127 Mark Hay, "Inside the Illicit Venezuela-Colombia Gas Smuggling Trade," Vice News, August 24, 2016, https://www.vice.com/en_us/article/vdqvb4/ inside-the-illicit-venezuela-colombia-gas-smugglingtrade.
- 128 Caracol Radio, "Venezolanos están siendo reclutados por bandas criminales colombianas en la frontera," December 21, 2015, https://caracol.com.co/ emisora/2015/12/21/cucuta/1450730614_548873. html
- 129 Juan Carlos Garzón Vergara et al., "Inseguridad, Violencia y Economías Ilegales en las Fronteras," Fundación Ideas para la Paz, 2018, http://ideaspaz. org/media/website/fip_seguridad_fronteras.pdf.

Atlantic Council Board of Directors

CHAIRMAN

*John F.W. Rogers

EXECUTIVE CHAIRMAN EMERITUS

*James L. Jones

CHAIRMAN EMERITUS

Brent Scowcroft

PRESIDENT AND CEO

*Frederick Kempe

EXECUTIVE VICE CHAIRS

*Adrienne Arsht

*Stephen J. Hadley

VICE CHAIRS

*Robert J. Abernethy

*Richard W. Edelman

*C. Boyden Gray

*Alexander V. Mirtchev

*Virginia A. Mulberger

*W. DeVier Pierson

*John J. Studzinski

TREASURER

*George Lund

SECRETARY

*Walter B. Slocombe

DIRECTORS

Stéphane Abrial

Odeh Aburdene

Todd Achilles

*Peter Ackerman

Timothy D. Adams

Bertrand-Marc Allen

*Michael Andersson

David D. Aufhauser

Colleen Bell

Matthew C. Bernstein

*Rafic A. Bizri

Dennis C. Blair

Philip M. Breedlove

Reuben E. Brigety II

Myron Brilliant

*Esther Brimmer

R. Nicholas Burns

*Richard R. Burt

Michael Calvey

James E. Cartwright

John E. Chapoton Ahmed Charai

Melanie Chen

Michael Chertoff

*George Chopivsky

Wesley K. Clark

*Helima Croft

Ralph D. Crosby, Jr. Nelson W. Cunningham

Ivo H. Daalder

*Ankit N. Desai

*Paula J. Dobriansky

Thomas J. Egan, Jr.

*Stuart E. Eizenstat Thomas R. Eldridge

*Alan H. Fleischmann

Jendayi E. Frazer

Ronald M. Freeman

Courtney Geduldig

Robert S. Gelbard

Gianni Di Giovanni

Thomas H. Glocer

John B. Goodman

*Sherri W. Goodman

Murathan Günal

*Amir A. Handjani

Katie Harbath

John D. Harris, II

Frank Haun

Michael V. Hayden

Brian C. McK. Henderson

Annette Heuser

Amos Hochstein

*Karl V. Hopkins

Robert D. Hormats

Andrew Hove

*Mary L. Howell

Ian Ihnatowycz

Wolfgang F. Ischinger

Deborah Lee James

Reuben Jeffery, III

Joia M. Johnson

Stephen R. Kappes

*Maria Pica Karp

Andre Kelleners

Sean Kevelighan

Henry A. Kissinger

*C. Jeffrey Knittel Franklin D. Kramer

Laura Lane

Richard L. Lawson

Jan M. Lodal

Douglas Lute

Douglas Late

Jane Holl Lute William J. Lynn

Wendy W. Makins

Mian M. Mansha

Mian M. Mans Chris Marlin

Gerardo Mato

Timothy McBride

John M. McHugh

H.R. McMaster

Eric D.K. Melby

Enc Dir. Piciby

Franklin C. Miller

*Judith A. Miller

Susan Molinari

Michael J. Morell

Richard Morningstar

Mary Claire Murphy

Edward J. Newberry

Thomas R. Nides

Franco Nuschese

Tranco Nuscrie

Joseph S. Nye

Hilda Ochoa-Brillembourg

Ahmet M. Oren

Sally A. Painter

*Ana I. Palacio

Kostas Pantazopoulos

Carlos Pascual

Alan Pellegrini

David H. Petraeus

Thomas R. Pickering

Daniel B. Poneman

Dina H. Powell

Robert Rangel

Thomas J. Ridge

Michael J. Rogers

Charles O. Rossotti

Harry Sachinis

Rajiv Shah Stephen Shapiro

Wendy Sherman

Kris Singh

Christopher Smith

James G. Stavridis Richard J.A. Steele

Paula Stern

Robert J. Stevens

Mary Streett

Nathan D. Tibbits

Frances M. Townsend

Clyde C. Tuggle

14

Melanne Verveer

Charles F. Wald

Michael F. Walsh

Ronald Weiser

Geir Westgaard Olin Wethington

Masisi Wituski

Maciej Witucki

Neal S. Wolin

Jenny Wood Guang Yang

Mary C. Yates

Dov S. Zakheim

HONORARY DIRECTORS

James A. Baker. III

Ashton B. Carter

Robert M. Gates

Michael G. Mullen

Leon E. Panetta

William J. Perry Colin L. Powell

Condoleezza Rice

George P. Shultz

Horst Teltschik John W. Warner

William H. Webster

*Executive Committee Members List as of September 11, 2019





The Atlantic Council is a nonpartisan organization that promotes constructive US leadership and engagement in international affairs based on the central role of the Atlantic community in meeting today's global challenges.

1030 15th Street, NW, 12th Floor, Washington, DC 20005

(202) 778-4952, www.AtlanticCouncil.org